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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: This hearing of

          3  the Public Safety Committee today will focus on an

          4  important public safety topic, the penalties for

          5  driving while intoxicated and the enforcement of the

          6  DWI laws here in New York City.

          7                 Today's hearing was prompted by the

          8  tragic October 22nd incident in Queens, where

          9  11-year-old VaSean Alleyne and 12 year-old Angel

         10  Reyes were struck by an intoxicated driver.  VaSean

         11  was killed and Angel was seriously injured.

         12  Incredibly, despite the death and serious injury

         13  under current law the driver of the vehicle was only

         14  charged with the misdemeanor of driving while

         15  intoxicated, punishable at a maximum by only one

         16  year in prison.

         17                 The reason for this injustice is that

         18  current law requires that in addition to the

         19  intoxicated driving, the prosecution must also

         20  demonstrate additional criminal negligence, such as

         21  running a red light or speeding.  There was no other

         22  traffic violations in the Queens case, at this

         23  point, and no other negligence that can be

         24  demonstrated so the driver of the vehicle that

         25  struck these two boys can only be charged with a
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          2  misdemeanor.

          3                 Unfortunately, there have been other

          4  similar incidents that include not only drunk

          5  drivers but also drivers with suspended and revoked

          6  licenses.  Staten Island DA Donovan, will be here

          7  shortly to testify.  He will outline some other

          8  incidents in his borough where this has occurred.

          9                 As a result of this October incident

         10  in Queens tremendous pressure has been applied on

         11  the State Legislature to amend the laws so that

         12  stricter penalties could apply in these grievous

         13  situations.  The two prominent bills in last year's

         14  legislative session were proposed by the Governor

         15  and the Assembly Speaker.  They are different in

         16  scope and in substance.

         17                 As I have said previously, and I do

         18  so again, the proposal set forth by the Governor's

         19  bill is comprehensive as it deals with both drunk

         20  drivers and those who operate with suspended and

         21  revoked licenses and provides for greater penalties

         22  for those who commit these crimes.

         23                 We believe here that this hearing

         24  will go a long way to urging both the Assembly and

         25  the Governor to compromise and come up with a bill
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          2  which will increase the penalties for drunk driving.

          3  It will punish future drivers who hurt or kill

          4  little children while drunk and it will provide for

          5  stricter penalties, tougher penalties for people who

          6  do this.  And again, we need to have the Governor

          7  and Legislature come to a compromise hearing and get

          8  a bill done that does all of these things.

          9                 So we applaud the Governor, the

         10  Speaker and Senate Majority Leader for coming to

         11  working together to come to a solution to this

         12  problem, but we want it done as soon as possible. We

         13  don't want this hearing to be about blaming one side

         14  or the other for inaction, rather, we wish to hear

         15  concrete provisions that should be included in the

         16  law to make our roads safer.  That's why resolution

         17  leaves out reference to any specific bills, it just

         18  calls for a dialogue.

         19                 In addition, we will focus on the

         20  NYPD's enforcement of DWI and other dangerous driver

         21  laws.  The NYPD will explain the initiatives they

         22  have in place, the number of arrests for these

         23  incidents, and how they try to prevent accidents

         24  before they occur. Any person who gets behind the

         25  wheel of a car intoxicated, or knowing that their
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          2  license is suspended or revoked and then proceeds to

          3  injure or kill another person, should face serious

          4  penalties for engaging in this type of behavior.

          5  Right now they don't.

          6                 We will hear first from the NYPD, and

          7  then a panel with the Staten Island DA and some

          8  representatives from the Brooklyn DA's office and

          9  then the families of some of the tragic victims who

         10  are here today.  And we thank them for coming down,

         11  Diana Reyes and Monique Dixon, thank you.  You will

         12  be testifying after those two panels.

         13                 I have been working closely with

         14  Council Member Gennaro regarding these bills and

         15  this unfortunate incident occurred in his district.

         16  He had all intentions of being here today and sends

         17  a brief statement which I would like to read.

         18  He sends his regrets.  He had a family emergency,

         19  which I am personally aware of so he's not kidding

         20  here.

         21                 In his absence however, he wanted me

         22  to stress his support to the families of VaSean and

         23  Angel. Your strong and tireless advocacy has put a

         24  human face on the necessity of strengthening the

         25  State's DWI laws.  He thanks you for your courage
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          2  and your spirit.

          3                 He believes it is an outrage that the

          4  State law currently allows killer drunk drivers to

          5  get off with a slap on the wrist.  Anyone who drives

          6  drunk and kills or injures someone should be

          7  considered a violent felon and prosecuted and

          8  sentenced as such. State law must be changed to meet

          9  this standard.  And then he goes on to thank me, so

         10  we'll leave that part out for now.

         11                 But again, he has worked tirelessly

         12  on this issue with me and supports what we do here

         13  today, and wishes he could be here today.

         14                 I would like to introduce, we have

         15  Council Member Helen Foster with us here today.  And

         16  I know Council Member Katz just stepped out.  We

         17  will have others joining us soon.  We will now begin

         18  with the police department, Inspector John Sassano,

         19  Executive Office of New York State Police

         20  Department's Office of Transportation.  Thank you

         21  Inspector Sassano for being here today. I know

         22  you're with the omnipresent Sue Petito.  Thank you

         23  Sir again for being here.  So the floor is yours.

         24                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Good morning Mr.

         25  Chairman and Members of the Council.  I am Inspector
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          2  John Sassano, Executive Officer in New York City

          3  Police Department, Office of Chief of Transportation

          4  and I am pleased to be here on behalf of Police

          5  Commission Raymond Kelly and Chief of Transportation

          6  Michael Scagnelli, to discuss with you the NYPD's

          7  enforcement of the laws against driving while

          8  intoxicated.

          9                 The NYPD is deeply committed to

         10  preventing the tragic and destructive consequences

         11  of drunk driving on the streets and highways of our

         12  City.  This commitment is demonstrated both by

         13  arresting those who violate the law and by reaching

         14  out to the public preventively, to reinforce the

         15  needs to drive sober and to educate the community

         16  about the possible consequences of driving drunk.

         17                 I would first like to provide some

         18  data indicating the significant level of resources

         19  we have devoted to these efforts. In 2004 there were

         20  7,228 arrests for driving while intoxicated and 625

         21  arrests for driving while impaired, for a total of

         22  7,853.  This represents a 38 percent increase in the

         23  number of arrests as compared with 2003, when there

         24  were a total of 5,694 individual's arrested for

         25  these offenses.  Similarly, in 2004, there were
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          2  2,095 vehicles seized in connection with drunk

          3  driving, as compared with 1,737 vehicles seized in

          4  2003, for a 21 percent increase.

          5                 These figures give some indication of

          6  the intense focus the Police Department has placed

          7  on the issue of drunk driving.  There are many ways

          8  that this focus is communicated throughout the

          9  Department, in which Department priorities are

         10  turned into operational actions and chief among them

         11  is the emphasis placed on drunk driving by the Chief

         12  of Transportation in what is called "TrafficStat."

         13                 TrafficStat is a program modeled on

         14  the Department's CompStat process in which

         15  operational commanders throughout the City are

         16  brought together by the Chief of Transportation to

         17  discuss and evaluate the specific efforts that are

         18  made to address traffic related issues, such as

         19  keeping traffic moving, addressing accident- prone

         20  locations and vehicle safety.

         21                 Operational commanders are questioned

         22  regarding their efforts to solve particular problems

         23  and complaints, including how they deploy their

         24  officers to address the problems. The incidence of

         25  drunk driving and the attention paid to it is a
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          2  constant theme at TrafficStat, where the need to be

          3  creative and devote appropriate resources to

          4  catching drunk drivers, especially before they hurt

          5  someone, is repeatedly reinforced.

          6                 Commanders are encouraged to use all

          7  of the resources at their disposal, communicating to

          8  all officers that even through their primary mission

          9  may not be drunk driving violations, they must

         10  remain aware of that priority as they perform their

         11  other duties.

         12                 In operational terms, this focus is

         13  reflected not only by police officers observing

         14  possible drunk drivers in the normal course of

         15  patrol, but also by focused initiatives targeting

         16  particular locations and/or times of day in which

         17  our practical experience leads us to believe that

         18  people may be driving drunk.            Local

         19  commanders generally know where the potential

         20  trouble spots are and may devote specific resources

         21  to those locations as a DWI initiative.  They may

         22  assign officers to observe a bar for example, to

         23  watch the patrons as they exit and get into their

         24  cars, to look for indications that they are

         25  impaired. Officers may even make their presence
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          2  known in the bar, advising patrons not to drive if

          3  they are impaired or intoxicated to deter the

          4  conduct before it occurs.

          5                 Planned DWI initiatives may also

          6  include vehicle checkpoints and saturation of

          7  personnel at accident- prone locations.  Special

          8  attention is paid to the issue during major holidays

          9  when it can be expected that people are more likely

         10  to travel in an impaired state.  The Police

         11  Department works with other law enforcement agencies

         12  to conduct joint operations, for example, at bridges

         13  and tunnels.

         14                 We also participate in the New York

         15  State Safe and Sober Campaign, a periodic statewide

         16  initiative coordinated by the State Division of

         17  Criminal Justice Services, which focuses attention

         18  on underage drinking and impaired driving in an

         19  intensive two- or three- day period several times a

         20  year.

         21                 I would now like to describe the

         22  general procedure followed when a police officer

         23  makes an arrest for driving while intoxicated or

         24  impaired.  An arrest might be initiated based upon

         25  an officer observing someone getting into a vehicle
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          2  who appears to be intoxicated or impaired, even

          3  before they actually drive. Alternatively, it might

          4  commence with a traffic stop based upon the manner

          5  in which a vehicle is being driven, for example,

          6  without its headlights on, swerving or erratic

          7  movement, or commission of a traffic violation.  An

          8  arrest might also be generated by police response to

          9  a vehicle accident, where the driver appears to be

         10  impaired or at a vehicle checkpoint.

         11                 The officer will usually interview

         12  the vehicle operator to help assess whether he or

         13  she is impaired or intoxicated.  The officer may

         14  also ask the operator to blow into a portable breath

         15  tester, if available.  Although the reading from

         16  these devices do not conclusively establish

         17  intoxication for the purpose of conviction. They may

         18  assist the officer in developing probably cause for

         19  an arrest.  Every precinct has a small number of

         20  these devices and a small cadre of officers trained

         21  in their use.

         22                 If the officer determines that the

         23  person is impaired or intoxicated, the operator will

         24  be arrested and brought to the local stationhouse

         25  for the initial stages of arrest processing.  The
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          2  vehicle may be released to a licensed driver at the

          3  scene, unless it is wanted on an alarm, required as

          4  evidence or subject to forfeiture as the

          5  instrumentality of crime.  In those cases, it is

          6  brought to the stationhouse for safeguarding.

          7                 The time spent by the operator at the

          8  stationhouse must be brief however, because the

          9  offender must be brought to a testing location and

         10  receive a chemical test within two hours of the time

         11  of arrest in order for the test results to be

         12  admitted in court.  Each geographic borough of the

         13  City has a testing location, with two in Manhattan.

         14                 When a DWI arrest is effected,

         15  Highway District or Patrol Borough Task Force

         16  personnel trained in administering the chemical test

         17  are notified to respond to the testing location.

         18  There the offender is advised that refusal to submit

         19  to the test will cause their driver's license to be

         20  immediately suspended and thereafter revoked,

         21  whether or not they are ultimately found guilty of

         22  the underlying charges.  If over two hours have

         23  elapsed since the arrest, the offender is advised

         24  that they may refuse to take the test, but asked to

         25  do so voluntarily.
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          2                 If the offender agrees to take the

          3  chemical test, he or she blows into an Intoxilyzer

          4  device and the blood alcohol level is recorded.  The

          5  offender is also given a Coordination Test with the

          6  results similarly recorded.  Both tests are

          7  videotaped and the testing locations have audio

          8  tapes available in different languages in order to

          9  facilitate testing of offenders speaking languages

         10  other than English.

         11                 The offender's arrest processing then

         12  continues. Individuals arrested for DWI are

         13  generally not eligible to receive a desk appearance

         14  ticket and are held for arraignment.  However, when

         15  an offender arrested for DWI is hospitalized, the

         16  Department's testing personnel go to the hospital to

         17  test the offender, seeking a blood sample, rather

         18  than merely the Intoxilyzer test.  In such cases,

         19  whether the offender consents to the test or not, if

         20  the offender is hospitalized for more than 24 hours,

         21  he or she is eligible for a desk appearance ticket.

         22                 There are special provisions in the

         23  law for detaining individuals under 21 for operating

         24  a vehicle after consuming alcohol, even if they do

         25  not meet the standard for intoxication or
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          2  impairment, called the Zero Tolerance Law.  The ZTL

          3  provides that anyone under 21 whose blood alcohol

          4  level measures between .02 and .07, who is not

          5  otherwise charged with driving while intoxicated or

          6  impaired, must receive a six- month suspension of

          7  their driver's license and a civil penalty after a

          8  DMV hearing. Therefore, individuals under 21

          9  suspected of having consumed alcohol before

         10  operating a vehicle are detained for the purpose of

         11  testing in a manner similar to those arrested for

         12  intoxicated or impaired driving.

         13                 Police officers are trained to

         14  recognize the warning signs of an intoxicated driver

         15  and the way to process DWI arrests. As part of their

         16  initial training at the Police Academy regarding

         17  auto- related crimes, they learn about the many

         18  telltale signs of erratic driving as well as

         19  describable clues of evidence of alcohol or drug

         20  influence displayed by the individuals themselves.

         21  Alcohol on the breath, clothing stained or in

         22  disarray, slurred or confused speech, unsteady

         23  balance, pale or flushed face, fumbling or dropping

         24  driver's license, et cetera.  Recruits are reminded

         25  that their observations are critical to establishing
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          2  probable cause and are especially important when the

          3  individual refuses to take the chemical test.

          4                 Training continues throughout the

          5  officer's career, usually through practical field

          6  experience and precinct- based roll call training,

          7  often conducted by Highway District personnel with

          8  expertise in recognizing, apprehending and testing

          9  drunk drivers. Highway District personnel train

         10  precinct- based training officers and also train

         11  patrol personnel in utilizing the portable breath

         12  testing devices issued to local commands.

         13                 An important recent initiative in

         14  which the Department participated was a pilot

         15  project, Standard Field sobriety Testing, in which

         16  103 officers received a three- day course in using

         17  techniques and tests to detect and arrest

         18  intoxicated drivers, including instructions in

         19  recognizing clues of alcohol and drug influence and

         20  documenting the evidence.

         21                 The Department's educational efforts

         22  are not limited to our officers.  We work with the

         23  community and with schools and advocacy groups to

         24  enhance awareness of the issue.  Examples include

         25  presentations before precinct community councils,
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          2  participation in a BronxNet television show, working

          3  with Mothers Against Drunk Driving and Students

          4  Against Destructive Decisions and addressing

          5  students at Queensboro Community College on the

          6  consequences and penalties of DWI.  We also

          7  distribute information to the public at checkpoints

          8  and periodically raise awareness of the issues

          9  through media advisories.

         10                 We also have noted the Department's

         11  efforts to address and prevent drunk driving take

         12  many forms.  Intensive enforcement of the DWI laws

         13  is a critical component of an overall effort to

         14  reduce drunk driving since members of the public

         15  must understand the risks they create for others and

         16  for themselves when they get behind the wheel.  One

         17  would hope that the fear of possibly injuring or

         18  killing innocent victims would be sufficient to

         19  deter the conduct.  However, if that is not the

         20  case, drunk drivers may respond more directly to the

         21  possibility of arrest and revocation of their

         22  driver's license and possible forfeiture of the

         23  vehicle they were driving.

         24                 Note that the Department's Civil

         25  Enforcement Unit actively continues to seek
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          2  forfeiture of vehicles owned and operated by drunk

          3  drivers, complying with a recent federal court

          4  decision requiring the Department to offer a hearing

          5  to anyone whose vehicle the Department seeks to

          6  retain for forfeiture. One of the benefits of the

          7  forfeiture program is to encourage offenders to get

          8  treatment for drug or alcohol dependency as a

          9  condition of settling the case and getting their

         10  vehicle back.

         11                 In conclusion, we hope that this

         12  description of the Department's efforts in enforcing

         13  the DWI laws has been helpful and we appreciate the

         14  Council's attention to the issue.  We will be

         15  pleased to answer any questions you may have.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you for

         17  your testimony and congratulations on the job you

         18  are doing out there.  It is not an easy one.  As a

         19  former prosecutor for six years here in Manhattan I

         20  know what it was like to work with your members and

         21  they were always professional, well prepared.

         22  Absolutely not an easy job to comply with all the

         23  court rulings and the laws involved in prosecuting

         24  DWIs.  Sometimes I think it's even harder after you

         25  make the arrest for your officers to try to compile
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          2  evidence and get the records of the machines and

          3  things like that, so it's not any easy job.

          4                 You state some statistics here.  In

          5  2004 a total of 7,853 arrests compared to 2003 there

          6  were a total of 5,694 arrests. That is quite a

          7  substantial increase.  Obviously you testify it's

          8  due to the police departments increased focus on

          9  this, but  some -- Again, what are the reasons you

         10  believe are behind this big increase in drunk

         11  driving arrests by New York City?

         12                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: As I stated

         13  through my testimony, TrafficStat is a key element

         14  where the commanders are held accountable and they

         15  are asked to come up with their own initiatives to

         16  combat DWI.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I have no doubt

         18  that's probably, definitely the biggest reason for

         19  this increase.  Do you find although that there may

         20  in fact be more actual drunk driving occurring, that

         21  people are just not getting the hint here?

         22                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Well you know, if

         23  you look at the statistics, that would lend one to

         24  believe that there is more people drinking.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I would concur
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          2  and it's just unfortunate the way our society

          3  portrays this that I don't believe the people

          4  understand that this is as serious an offense as it

          5  actually is and the consequences of what happens

          6  when they get behind the wheel.  That's one of the

          7  reasons that we are here today.

          8                 How many officers do you have that

          9  devote their entire tours and focus to DWI

         10  enforcement?

         11                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Well, the whole

         12  police department uniform from patrol service

         13  bureau, as I stated before and people in specialized

         14  units are dedicated to DWI enforcement.  It may not

         15  be their primary function but the patrol police do

         16  initiate checkpoints and other initiatives on a

         17  daily basis to combat DWI.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Out of the total

         19  7,853, how many of those if you know had also

         20  entailed an accident and how many of those resulted

         21  in death, or serious physical injury?

         22                 While you are looking, let me also

         23  introduce Council Member Phil Reed from Manhattan,

         24  who has joined us today.  Thank you sir.

         25                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: The DWI
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          2  fatalities, there were 27 in 2004 compared to 40 in

          3  2003.  That was a decrease of 32 percent.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's probably

          5  again due to your efforts and some of the programs

          6  you mentioned such as going into bars either

          7  serendipitously waiting outside a bar, which I have

          8  no problem with to catch drunk drivers, or on the

          9  other hand going into a bar, prior to anyone getting

         10  into their car, just by your presence maybe scare

         11  people from driving.

         12                 What other things do you do when you

         13  go into a bar in that situation?

         14                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Why I think the

         15  main thing is to let the people know that you are

         16  out there, so maybe that would deter them, just

         17  knowing that the officers are out there and are

         18  going to enforce and arrest people that get behind

         19  their wheels and drive impaired or intoxicated. I

         20  think the omnipresence is a positive thing.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Just off the top

         22  of my head are there any other actions you take

         23  while inside the bar for example if they are

         24  obviously drunk patrons being served by bartenders

         25  or perhaps underage drinking, anything like that?
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          2                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Well, that's

          3  another issue, is making sure there is nobody under

          4  the age in bars drinking.  And there is other

          5  initiatives that the agency does to combat that

          6  also.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I am going to

          8  come back for a few, but I would like to just turn

          9  it over to Council Member Foster.  Thanks.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Good morning.

         11  Thank you. Question, on page one of your testimony,

         12  when you talk about the numbers that have gone up,

         13  does that mean there are actually more people

         14  drinking and driving or does that mean the police

         15  officers are doing a better job, becoming more

         16  aware, or maybe snatching people earlier, if you

         17  know.

         18                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: My own opinion is

         19  that the officers are doing a better job.  It's more

         20  of awareness, everyone's in the game, so to speak,

         21  not just left up to a particular type of unit or

         22  particular people.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Do you have a

         24  breakdown of the drunk driving incidents by borough

         25  because off in my head I would just assume, for

                                                            24

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  example, Second Avenue on Manhattan they have bar

          3  crawls, where you just crawl from bar to bar and

          4  then people can hop in taxis and kind of go where

          5  they need to go in Manhattan, where in Queens, and

          6  different boroughs that are more heavily driver

          7  boroughs, you would and again I am assuming, I am

          8  making an assumption here, that there is where you

          9  would see the largest number of drunk driving

         10  arrests occurring.

         11            INSPECTOR SASSANO: We have those

         12  statistics and we can give them to you at a later

         13  date.  We don't have them with us right now.

         14            COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: I would appreciate

         15  that Chairperson, it would be interesting to see the

         16  breakdown.  Lastly, is there a situation for

         17  example, if I were driving on the highway and I

         18  thought someone could be driving drunk, swerving,

         19  would I call 911?  What would you do, because I

         20  think there is situations outside of the police

         21  observing it, or at least for myself just being a

         22  driver who likes to think I'm aware.  If I see

         23  someone swerving, you know, you have heard stay

         24  behind them, don't try to pass them, all the things

         25  that we've heard in terms of drunk driving. Is there

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  a way that a layperson would get involved?

          3                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Absolutely, 911 we

          4  encourage people to call 911, if they observe

          5  someone they believe that is intoxicated and copy

          6  down the plate number and give us as much

          7  information as you can and we do get those calls

          8  from time to time.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: And lastly,

         10  even though I said that was lastly, this is really

         11  lastly.  Do you have by borough or precincts

         12  specific transportation divisions or DWI divisions

         13  of the police department.

         14                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Well, the City

         15  also has the highway patrol, highway district, have

         16  people that are focused into DWI, but also each of

         17  the patrol boroughs, the task forces also have units

         18  specifically for DWI enforcement, by borough.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you

         21  Council Member.

         22                 There is a bill in Albany now.  I am

         23  not going to ask a specific opinion, but which I

         24  find to be, would hope would be effective, and I am

         25  introducing resolutions supporting it, which would
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          2  make a blood alcohol level of .18 a felony.  Right

          3  now, for those who don't know over .05 is an

          4  impaired, over .08 is then a drunk driving.  But

          5  there is no mechanism for making any specific blood

          6  alcohol level a different crime.  So this would be a

          7  first.

          8                 Can you break down for us how many --

          9  you already mentioned that 625 of your over 7,000,

         10  close to 8,000 arrests were for impaired, so that's

         11  from .05 to .08.  Would you have some sort of

         12  breakdown as to how many arrests were made with

         13  people with say over .15, .20, some huge alcohol

         14  levels which obviously would indicate no one should

         15  be anywhere near an automobile?

         16                 INSPECTOR SASSANO:  The statistics we

         17  have on the reading is -- hold on a second. Okay, we

         18  have from .10 to .15. We had 3,051 people .16 to .20

         19  with 1,293 arrests, .21 and higher 550.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Would you be

         21  able to explain what it would take for an average

         22  size person, both male and female to get over a .20

         23  in their blood?

         24                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Well, it has a lot

         25  to do with the weight of an individual, what they
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          2  had to eat, so I'm really not prepared to comment on

          3  that right now.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Suffice it to

          5  say it's a good deal of alcohol.

          6                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Absolutely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You mentioned in

          8  your testimony about seizing vehicles and with that

          9  also from both sides of the haul.  In 2004 2,095

         10  vehicles, while in 2003 1,737 vehicles.  I know that

         11  whole procedure has been undergoing some changes

         12  based on new court rulings and things like that.

         13                 Can you explain to us now, under what

         14  circumstances do you take a vehicle and when you

         15  don't and what happens with that vehicle once you

         16  have seized it?

         17                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Basically you take

         18  a vehicle when the person has been driving and

         19  charged with intoxicated driving and the individual

         20  is the owner of the vehicle or the primary operator

         21  of the vehicle.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So in every case

         23  then, that's the situation that you take the car?

         24                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Well no, because

         25  you have people who are not the owner/operator.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: In case if that

          3  is the situation, you take the car.

          4                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Yes. Right.  We

          5  would take the car for forfeiture, where the vehicle

          6  is removed, sent to the police pound and then

          7  forfeiture procedures are started.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: What does the

          9  forfeiture procedure entail at this point?

         10                 INSPECTOR SASSANO:  Well, it is

         11  basically the officer does paperwork and we have to

         12  put the arrestee on notice that his vehicle was

         13  taken for forfeiture and he has to request the

         14  hearing to get his vehicle back and there is an

         15  administrative hearing that takes place.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And that

         17  hearing, is that a new procedure?

         18                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Yes, it was just

         19  started, it was just revamped to a court order.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And what has to

         21  happen at this hearing to enable the person getting

         22  his car back?  What does he have to prove?  Does he

         23  have to prove that he wasn't drunk.  Does he have to

         24  prove -- I'm not sure what the standard is at that

         25  hearing.
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          2                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Well, as I said in

          3  my statement part of the procedure to get the

          4  vehicle back is sometimes the offender is asked to

          5  go into some type of drug or alcohol rehabilitation

          6  course, to show that he is making a good effort

          7  regarding his DWI charge.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well that would

          9  be a reason that you could send to release it to

         10  him, but what else would happen at the hearing to

         11  allow someone to get their car back?

         12                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: We have to show

         13  the basis that we had to take the vehicle, that the

         14  charge was DWI.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Once you prove

         16  that, then you are allowed to seize the car?

         17                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: That's correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And should you

         19  decide that this person has not cooperated and gone

         20  to treatment or anything like that, you want to keep

         21  the car, then what happens?

         22                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Then the car is

         23  given to our forfeiture unit to take the vehicle.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Which means you

         25  can continue with the -- what happens next?
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          2                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Well, usually it's

          3  after the criminal court case has been resolved.

          4  After the criminal court's case is resolved then we

          5  go into forfeiture proceedings to take the vehicle

          6  from the individual.  Then it's up to, you know, the

          7  City can take the vehicle then usually sell it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So the City does

          9  that or the police department?

         10                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Well, the police

         11  department.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And do they sell

         13  these at auction or what's normally done with cars

         14  that are seized.

         15                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Usually they are

         16  sold at auctions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

         18  Jennings has joined us and Council Member Reed has

         19  some questions.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you Mr.

         21  Chair and I appreciate us having this hearing.

         22  Certainly my sympathies go out to all the families

         23  that have been victims of these crimes, both just as

         24  a private citizen and certainly as an elected

         25  official, I find myself continually asking the
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          2  question, why do people who kill people, like with

          3  their automobiles somehow always walk away without

          4  justice.  Certainly the families don't get justice

          5  and I'm pleased to see that we have this resolution

          6  and I am going to make sure that I'm signed onto it.

          7  I don't know why I hadn't been previously.

          8                 It just makes no sense to us when we

          9  hear these reports on the news that the driver

         10  impaired as they are, often times just walks away

         11  with a summons and doesn't do serious time in jail.

         12  I think that's the most effective way to get the

         13  point across.  Although I think what you are trying

         14  to do and the numbers indicate that we are trying to

         15  do more.

         16                 I would be interested in and I know

         17  that Councilwoman Foster asked, and I look forward

         18  to seeing the borough breakdown, I'm disappointed

         19  that we don't have that, seems to me something that

         20  individual Council Members would clearly want to

         21  see.  But also, I would like to see the zip codes of

         22  the people who are given these summons to make an

         23  evaluation of how many people are living in the

         24  City.  It would be interesting to know how many

         25  people are coming into the City and getting DWI's,
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          2  so we understand what we are working with here.

          3                 Mr. Chair, I'd ask that we could get

          4  that breakdown.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Absolutely, if

          6  it's possible. Do you have the list of zip codes of

          7  people who were arrested for DWI?

          8                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: We'll have to look

          9  into that.  If we have it available, we will make it

         10  available to you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We will be

         12  requesting that in letter form.  Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes, I would

         14  appreciate that. I can imagine you take their

         15  address, so there must be a record of their zip

         16  code. I'm not trying to personalize anything.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Unfortunately,

         18  Council Member Reed, as we heard here many times

         19  before, that most likely is on little pieces of

         20  paper on a police officer's desk somewhere.  So,

         21  we've heard that way too many times.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, so maybe

         23  we'll start working to correct that issue because I

         24  think unfortunately there is still a culture out

         25  there that sort of rewards or smiles at the idea of
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          2  drinking and driving and I'd like to identify where

          3  that is and try to cut that off as soon as possible.

          4                 I also don't know whether we could do

          5  or law enforcement could do, but it seems as -- I

          6  live in Manhattan and my district is also in the

          7  Bronx and it seems to me that so many people don't

          8  really understand the law, even they seemingly got a

          9  driver's license, particularly in crosswalks.  And

         10  often times I'm dumbstruck that you know we have

         11  crosswalks in our districts that don't have lights.

         12  Somehow the driver doesn't understand and I think

         13  that don't really understand that if there is a

         14  pedestrian, you are supposed to stop.  The

         15  pedestrian isn't supposed to stop. You're supposed

         16  to stop.

         17                 And I don't know from statistics

         18  standpoint, how many of these accidents are actually

         19  happening also in these crosswalks, or what kind of

         20  enforcement is being done locally by the precinct.

         21  What the Chair was talking about earlier, does every

         22  precinct have a traffic enforcement person or

         23  officers to do specifically that?

         24                 INSPECTOR SASSANO:  Every precinct

         25  has people to do traffic enforcement, but more
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          2  important, everyone is involved with traffic

          3  enforcement, not just the officers that are what

          4  they call traffic officers or summons officers.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You know, I hate

          6  to say this, but that's not been my experience.  I

          7  live on Central Park West, in the poorer section of

          8  Central Park West, but I live on Central Park West.

          9  And I can't tell you the number of times I see

         10  people making a U- turn that cause near accidents

         11  with police officers in cars that don't seem to do

         12  anything about it.  I don't know how we can really

         13  say that because people are driving through

         14  crosswalks. Should we report the police officers

         15  that we see who sit there and don't respond to it?

         16                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: We encourage

         17  anyone that sees an officer not doing something he

         18  is supposed to do, to report it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Tell me, what is

         20  the procedure, if a police officer sees a traffic

         21  infraction.  What is it that they are supposed to

         22  do?

         23                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Pull over the

         24  individual. They don't have to issue a summons, they

         25  can warn or admonish an individual.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  But it's their

          3  responsibility if he sees something to go and pull

          4  someone over.

          5                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Absolutely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay.  Well,

          7  that's good to know.  I can see myself probably

          8  getting arrested for suggesting that the cop should

          9  have gone after him.

         10                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Well, you also

         11  must remember that, I don't know what the officer's

         12  doing, maybe he's involved in some other type of law

         13  enforcement, where he would not be able to stop an

         14  individual.

         15                      COUNCIL MEMBER REED: It seems to

         16  me it's sort of like the broken windows concept that

         17  we have or the turnstile jumping concept that the

         18  police use I think very effectively. If people are

         19  driving recklessly, albeit they may not have hit

         20  somebody, but there is clearly reckless behavior. It

         21  would seem to me there is a pretty good likelihood

         22  that we have somebody who is either impaired or

         23  intoxicated or at the very least, he might be

         24  driving with a suspended license, all sorts of

         25  things.
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          2                 So that might also be a way to cut

          3  down, and I'm trying to manage or do your job, but

          4  there are some things that seem to me to be pretty

          5  obvious.  I am not sure what the police department

          6  is doing.  I see an increase in arrests.  But I

          7  think the prevention piece, which is part of the

          8  arrest, but the earlier prevention I think is

          9  extremely important.  I'm not sure that I know the

         10  police are doing something about that.

         11                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Well, accidents

         12  were down. Accidents and injuries were down in 2004

         13  as compared to 2003 and that has to do with the

         14  enforcement because enforcement is up for 2004

         15  compared to 2003.  And we believe there is a direct

         16  correlation between enforcement and driving

         17  accidents down.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: This is my last

         19  question, Mr. Chair.  What sort of enforcement

         20  mechanisms do we have if there are people from out-

         21  of- state that we give tickets to or are caught up

         22  in this driving intoxicated or impaired?

         23                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: I don't follow

         24  your question.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, if
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          2  somebody from New Jersey, if you stop somebody in a

          3  trap for driving intoxicated, do they get points on

          4  their license in the state where it is issued?

          5                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: They get arrested

          6  like anyone else and incarcerated and they have to

          7  go to court.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Can you

          9  confiscate their car as well?

         10                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Yes, we can.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you

         14  Council Member Reed.

         15  To follow up what the Council Member said, where are

         16  most of your DWI arrests made?  Would they be on

         17  major highways, like the Grand Central?  Would it be

         18  on major thoroughfares such as Queens Boulevard,

         19  local streets or perhaps as a result of roadblocks.

         20  Where are you finding in your experience where most

         21  DWI's arrests occur.

         22                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: The majority of

         23  DWI arrests are on local streets.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You've mentioned

         25  that there is one testing location in every borough,
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          2  two in Manhattan.  Now, every arrest, you can

          3  correct me if I am wrong, a DWI has to be brought to

          4  one of these testing stations.  Correct?

          5                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: That's correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Why two in

          7  Manhattan and one in every other borough?

          8                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Well Manhattan

          9  because the way it is geographically located.  There

         10  is one up in the Two A precinct and the second one

         11  is in the Seven precinct.  Because of the time, you

         12  have to go from Lower Manhattan to Upper Manhattan,

         13  the department decided to put a second testing

         14  location in.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  You are also

         16  concerned about time because the two- hour rules go

         17  into effect obviously, where if you don't get the

         18  test done in two hours it's basically not admissible

         19  in court.  Do you believe it may be better to have

         20  more of these testing stations in other boroughs

         21  also?

         22                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: I believe that the

         23  testing sites that the department has is sufficient

         24  right now.  We do not have a problem with tests

         25  going over the two limits because of less testing
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          2  sites.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

          4  We'll end up the questioning now because there are

          5  many other panels that want to testify now and any

          6  other question we have we will be obviously sending

          7  them to you and you'll be providing answers as you

          8  always do.

          9                 Regarding your enforcement of the

         10  law, we want to work with you and do whatever we can

         11  to make that easier, more efficient.  Is there

         12  anything that you have come across in your

         13  experience that we can do here, any laws we can do,

         14  any light we can shine in the area that you are

         15  coming across that might make your job easier to do?

         16                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Well, I think any

         17  law that strengthens the current law, the agency

         18  would support fully.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Obviously we are

         20  doing that today and calling on Albany to strengthen

         21  the laws in Albany.  We don't have power here on

         22  City level to change the State laws.  We are calling

         23  on them to do that.  We appreciate your support in

         24  that. And here on a local level we have obviously,

         25  District Attorney Donovan, who just came in here and
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          2  anything we can do to help you perhaps with --

          3                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: More public

          4  education.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: -- More public

          6  education?  We can do that out of our offices.  I

          7  believe all our offices have these brochures that we

          8  can make sure we get out there.  If there is

          9  anything we can do here, at the City Council, any

         10  resolutions we can pass, any laws we can amend, you

         11  let us know and we will get that done as soon as

         12  possible.

         13                 Seeing that there are no more

         14  questions, again we will be following up with you on

         15  information that we requested.  We thank you for

         16  coming down here and testifying and for your

         17  increased spot- light on drunk driving and commend

         18  you for the work you are doing.  We look forward to

         19  working with you both in the future.

         20                 INSPECTOR SASSANO: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The next panel

         23  consists of obviously our Staten Island DA, Dan

         24  Donovan, who I believe has entered and has been a

         25  leader in attempting to strengthen our DWI laws for
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          2  some time now.  Also, we have from the Brooklyn DA's

          3  office Joe Petrosino and Maureen McCormick who will

          4  also be sitting on this panel.  At least one of them

          5  will be testifying after DA Donovan.  Mr. Petrosino,

          6  if you'll be testifying, I'll have you sit next to

          7  Dan Donovan now.

          8                 MR. PETROSINO: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Sure. Thank you

         10  Mr. Donovan, as I've said before, Mr. Donovan is a

         11  source of much of our information here that we

         12  receive at City Hall regarding what exactly needs to

         13  be done to strengthen the laws in Albany.  He's kept

         14  a focus on this for some time now.  I've seen opt ed

         15  pieces by Mr. Donovan and again I've taken

         16  information from them because of my experience some

         17  time ago as a DA, so I like to find out what the new

         18  law is.

         19                 Thank you for coming down here today

         20  and explaining to us exactly what you've seen

         21  happening in your borough with DWI. What you are

         22  doing about it and what you would like to see and

         23  what changes you would like to see made.  So thank

         24  you.  You too Mr. Petrosino.  Send our thanks over

         25  to Mr. Hynes for coming down today.  We look forward
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          2  to hearing from you both.  Dan Donovan please begin.

          3                 MR. DONOVAN: Thank you Chairman

          4  Vallone and Members of the Committee.  Please accept

          5  my sincere thanks for the invitation to testify

          6  before the Committee on Public Safety on an issue of

          7  vital importance to the people of my borough and the

          8  entire City of New York.

          9                 Since I assumed the office of Staten

         10  Island's District Attorney last January, probably

         11  the most difficult part of my job has been to sit

         12  with parents after the death or serious injury of

         13  their child, at the hands of a driver, who should

         14  not have been behind the wheel of a car.  Two such

         15  families are those of Brianna Gioia and Michael

         16  Vasquez- Moore.

         17                 In January 2003, fourteen- year- old

         18  Brianna was a passenger in a car driven by an

         19  unlicensed driver.  She was killed when the driver

         20  of the vehicle she was in lost control and veered

         21  into a gully and into oncoming traffic.  The driver

         22  could only be charged with the misdemeanors of

         23  driving without a license and endangering the

         24  welfare of a child.  The driver subsequently plead

         25  guilty to a misdemeanor and received a conditional
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          2  discharge, a fine and community service.  Not having

          3  learned her lesson, this September, the same driver

          4  was arrested for DWI and driving without a license.

          5  While several parked cars were hit, fortunately no

          6  one was injured this time.  The case is currently

          7  pending in Staten Island Criminal Court.

          8                 Just as tragic a story involves

          9  eleven- year- old Michael Vasquez- Moore.  Like many

         10  children his age, Michael was enjoying a beautiful

         11  summer evening when he was struck and killed by a

         12  driver while crossing the street.  The driver who

         13  struck Michael was driving without a valid driver's

         14  license.  Her license to drive had been suspended 15

         15  times and was revoked twice.

         16                 Under current law, the only crime

         17  that she could be charged with was a misdemeanor of

         18  driving without a license.  The case against the

         19  driver was later dismissed when a judge could not

         20  determine whether or not she was properly notified

         21  that her license was suspended by the Department of

         22  Motor Vehicles.

         23                 The Foundation for Traffic Safety has

         24  reported that drivers who drive while their license

         25  is suspended or revoked are the highest group for
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          2  causing accidents, deaths injuries and property

          3  damage.  Such drivers are five- times more likely to

          4  be involved in a fatal crash than drivers with a

          5  valid license. Clearly, something must be done to

          6  strengthen the law regarding these "deadly drivers."

          7                 Those who we have deemed to be deadly

          8  drivers are people who drive while intoxicated,

          9  those with a suspended or revoked license, or

         10  drivers who have no license at all.  No one in this

         11  category of lawbreakers ought to be behind the wheel

         12  of a car, yet I see volumes of such cases daily when

         13  I review the arrests on Staten Island each morning.

         14  It is certain that there are hundreds more of these

         15  violators on our roads at any given time.

         16                 As it now stands, New York law does

         17  not protect us from these deadly drivers.  Under

         18  current law, when their actions result in the death

         19  or serious injury of an innocent person, unless

         20  there is proof of further negligence or

         21  recklessness, the most serious charge a drunk driver

         22  can face is a misdemeanor and in the case of a

         23  person driving with a suspended, revoked or no

         24  license at all, very often most of these drivers

         25  will be charged with a traffic infraction.
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          2                 In an effort to address the

          3  inadequacies of our existing law, several months ago

          4  I convened a meeting with the Staten Island

          5  delegation of State legislators and family members

          6  of Brianna and Michael.  Much of our discussion

          7  concerned Governor George Pataki's proposed "deadly

          8  driver" legislation that will close these loopholes

          9  by amending the existing law of vehicular assault

         10  and vehicular manslaughter so that deadly drivers

         11  can be properly charged for the harm they cause.  We

         12  felt in our hearts that current law often results in

         13  great injustice.  There is too great a disparity

         14  between the low level of the legal violation and the

         15  ultimate loss incurred, that of human life.

         16                 When someone unlawfully fires a

         17  weapon, sending a bullet into motion, they are

         18  responsible for all of the consequences of their

         19  actions, even if they did not intend to injure

         20  anyone.  If someone is struck with that bullet, that

         21  shooter will be charged with an assault or the death

         22  of the unintended victim.  No other negligence or

         23  reckless behavior need be proven. The discharge of

         24  that weapon is the negligent act.

         25                 This should also be the law when
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          2  someone drives when the law prohibits them from

          3  doing so.  Sending a two- thousand pound car into

          4  motion can be a deadly instrument when it is

          5  operated by someone who should not be driving.  No

          6  further proof of criminality should be required.  If

          7  such a driver takes the wheel, he or she should be

          8  held responsible for all the consequences of their

          9  actions, including the death or injury of another

         10  person.

         11                 As a new session of the State

         12  Legislature is poised to begin its deliberations in

         13  Albany, it is time to end the continual gridlock and

         14  approve the "deadly driver" legislation package.  It

         15  is time to end the free ride for New York's deadly

         16  drivers.

         17                 I believe that the Council's adoption

         18  of this proposed resolution is a step in the right

         19  direction.  Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. I

         21  want to apologize for Council Member James Gennaro

         22  who was supposed to be here today and was unable to

         23  make it and explained to me the circumstances, so

         24  thank you.  Before we give you questions from the

         25  panel, I would like to ask Mr. Petrosino to also
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          2  make his statement.

          3                 MR. PETROSINO: Good morning ladies

          4  and gentlemen. First I'd like to extend our

          5  sympathies to the Alleyne and Reyes families that

          6  are here from Queens.  We're from Brooklyn.  My name

          7  is Joe Petrosino, I'm Chief of Felony Crimes in

          8  Brooklyn.  Maureen McCormick is here with me.  She

          9  is Chief of our Vehicular Crimes Bureau and she has

         10  lectured across the State on the prosecution of

         11  vehicular crimes.

         12                 I thank you for giving us the

         13  opportunity to be here.  District Attorney Hynes

         14  believes that drunk and reckless driving presents

         15  such an imminent threat to the people of Brooklyn

         16  and indeed the State, that he created the Vehicular

         17  Crimes Bureau in our office to combat this.

         18                 We also have a Choices and

         19  Consequences Program where Ms. McCormick goes to

         20  high schools throughout Brooklyn to teach young

         21  people in high school, who are about ready to start

         22  driving, about the dangers of drunk and reckless

         23  driving.  That program has been well received

         24  throughout the county.

         25                 As a prosecutor and a citizen, it has
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          2  become painfully clear that we are all at risk of

          3  being innocent victims of vehicular collisions

          4  because our laws are not adequate to protect the

          5  public.  Time and time again, tragedy after tragedy,

          6  the same prosecutorial problems arise, giving way to

          7  the same anemic explanations to the bereaved

          8  families of victims as to why we cannot prosecute at

          9  all, or the sanctions are so low.

         10                 A person can flagrantly violate the

         11  law by driving while intoxicated and cause death or

         12  serious injury and that alone is not enough to

         13  charge the driver with a homicide or an assault.

         14  The same is true for unlicensed and suspended

         15  licensed drivers no matter how many suspension or

         16  prior reckless driving incidents.

         17                 Intoxicated driving, whether by

         18  alcohol or drugs, because we get a lot of cases with

         19  drug drivers, should be sufficient in and of itself,

         20  to charge a defendant with homicide or assault when

         21  death or serious physical injury results.

         22                 Also, the law should allow driving

         23  without a license to be evidence of itself of

         24  negligence.  As we all know we have to prove

         25  criminal negligence to charge a defendant with a
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          2  vehicular homicide.  If you made that evidence of

          3  negligence, which it is not now, that would be one

          4  of the components that would go into a finding of

          5  criminal negligence, allowing us to prosecute.     Continuing

          6  to operate a vehicle after a license is suspended

          7  for an offense related to operation, also should be

          8  presumptive evidence of negligence.

          9                 We must do our best to keep to keep

         10  intoxicated and reckless drivers from killing our

         11  loved ones.  We must do this with aggressive

         12  enforcement and prosecution.  We need effective,

         13  meaningful legislation to accomplish this.  Thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you both.

         16  Dan Donovan, first let me explain that I have spoken

         17  to every District Attorney's Office and they all

         18  feel as you do.

         19                 The Queens DA especially wanted to be

         20  here today, but because of the fact that those cases

         21  are presently in the press and happening, occurring

         22  right now, they didn't believe it would be wise to

         23  be testifying.  But they do support what we are

         24  doing here today.

         25                 DA Donovan if you would please
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          2  summarize the legislation in Albany right now, on

          3  both sides of the aisle, and what aspects of that

          4  legislation you believe are imperative to be in

          5  whatever final compromise bill Albany comes up with.

          6                 MR. DONOVAN: Yes, thank you Chairman.

          7    Simply put and my colleagues, as you say, all

          8  agree.  The law currently requires us to prove, if

          9  someone is driving drunk, that alone is not

         10  sufficient to prove enough evidence for us to charge

         11  somebody with an assault or the death of somebody,

         12  manslaughter or homicide of someone who gets killed.

         13                 The laws require us now to prove that

         14  there was other negligence.  Somebody was speeding.

         15  Somebody went through a red light.  Our point is

         16  simple.  Once you get behind the wheel of a car, --

         17  there is a reason Chairman, why we don't want people

         18  who are drunk driving.  There is a reason why we

         19  license people that you have to take exams before we

         20  will allow somebody to get behind something as

         21  deadly as a vehicle could be.  And there is a reason

         22  why when we suspend people's licenses or revoke

         23  them, we are taking that privilege away.  It's

         24  because these three categories of people should not

         25  be on our roads.
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          2                 Once you flagrantly disregard the law

          3  and say despite that, whatever those three

          4  categories I fall into, I'm going to drive anyhow.

          5  Our position is that's the negligent act. You are

          6  already negligent now.  And that anything that comes

          7  from that, as I use that description of someone

          8  firing a bullet in the air, I didn't intend to hit

          9  anyone, but that act of firing a bullet itself, is

         10  the negligent act.  I need not to prove anything

         11  else and I will be charged with the assault or the

         12  homicide of that person unfortunately unintended

         13  victim of mine.

         14                 Well we have unintended victims.

         15  Michael Vasquez Moore was an unintended victim.  The

         16  woman who was driving that day with her license

         17  suspended 15 times and had been revoked did not

         18  intend to hurt Michael Vasquez- Moore that day.  But

         19  she shouldn't have been driving.  And Michael

         20  Vasquez- Moore would be alive, if she was not

         21  driving that day.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So then correct

         23  me if I'm wrong. The bill that has been introduced

         24  by the Assembly, in your expert opinion, does

         25  nothing to change that requirement that there's an
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          2  additional element of negligence necessary, where

          3  the bill in the Senate does do so?

          4                 MR. DONOVAN: The bill and the

          5  Governor's proposal does so as well.  Will remove

          6  that burden on the prosecutors to prove that someone

          7  committed some other negligence or reckless conduct,

          8  before we could charge them with the assault or the

          9  homicide of the unintended victim.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Before you came,

         11  I commended everyone in Albany, especially including

         12  the Assembly for coming to the table and attempting

         13  to work out this problem.  For real, I think a

         14  problem, working it out, especially at the behest of

         15  the families here who have been the impetus behind

         16  this movement in Albany and they are here with us

         17  today.  But any compromise that is worked out has to

         18  fix the problem.

         19                 So let me say something that hasn't

         20  been said before and again, correct me if I'm wrong.

         21    The proposed VaSean's Law, had it been in effect

         22  prior to this tragedy, would not have resulted in

         23  any increased punishment to VaSean's killer.  Is

         24  that correct?

         25                 MR. DONOVAN: That's correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That is

          3  something that needs to be changed.  What about

          4  increasing penalties for the offenses? Again, what

          5  is the legislation in Albany right now and what do

          6  you think should be done?

          7                 MR. DONOVAN:  Obviously, again, the

          8  woman who was driving that day Michael Vasquez-

          9  Moore was killed, her license was suspended 15

         10  times.  A suspended license.  Every single day I

         11  read every arrest that happens on Staten Island,

         12  every morning at 7:00 o'clock the arrest processing

         13  office sends over the arrests from the night before.

         14  I read every single arrest that happens on Staten

         15  Island.  You would not believe the amount of people

         16  who drive with suspended, revoked or no licenses at

         17  all.  It is not a deterrent any longer.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: About how many

         19  do you find?

         20                 MR. DONOVAN: How many actual

         21  occasions?  I would venture to say that a quarter of

         22  the cases that I deal with on Staten Island every

         23  morning, deal with some kind of vehicular offenses.

         24  Whether it's a suspended license, whether it's a

         25  DWI, whether it's someone driving without a license.
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          2                 We are fortunate on Staten Island for

          3  the safety of Staten Island, as we have some

          4  permanent road blocks on Staten Island.  The

          5  Verrazano Bridge for instance, the toll plaza there,

          6  the amount of people that are apprehended at the

          7  Verrazano Toll Plaza is astronomical.  Those men and

          8  women of TBTA are doing a wonderful job.  We have a

          9  highway division on Staten Island and the police

         10  department there are doing a terrific job as well.

         11  We have the Port Authority police officers who are

         12  governing and supervising the three bridge crossings

         13  we have connecting Staten Island to New Jersey.  So

         14  we have some permanent road blocks.  I would hate to

         15  venture or think about if these were unguarded

         16  unattended passageways for vehicular traffic, how

         17  many people would go unapprehended.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So regarding

         19  these suspended licenses, that was amazing what you

         20  said before that people with invalid licenses are

         21  five times more likely to be involved in an

         22  accident.  But regarding the suspended licenses and

         23  the legislation in Albany, the way I understand it,

         24  the Senate bill and the Governor's proposal does

         25  increase the penalties --

                                                            55

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 MR. DONOVAN: Increase the penalties.

          3

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: -- For driving

          5  with a suspended license without any additional

          6  negligence.  Is that correct?

          7                 MR. DONOVAN: That's correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  Mr.

          9  Petrosino do you have any comments on the

         10  legislation in Albany and what needs to be in the

         11  compromise bill?

         12                 MR. PETROSINO: Well, I know in the

         13  Governor's bill, I think it's the Pinna Herrara

         14  (phonetic) Bill it's referred to as, the Governor's

         15  proposed legislation? It increases penalties for

         16  multiple victims in vehicular homicides.  I think

         17  that's something that has to be looked at also.

         18                 I tried a case a couple of year ago

         19  where there were four victims killed by one drunk

         20  driver and the maximum sentence allowed under the

         21  law was five to fifteen and that's what he got. But,

         22  if there were multiple sentences, if we were allowed

         23  consecutive sentences for each victim, I think that

         24  also would go a long way.  Because we get a number

         25  of cases of multiple victims in Brooklyn.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's very

          3  important to note, not many people realize that.

          4  The proposals on the Senate's side of the hall do

          5  call for consecutive penalties should there be

          6  separate injuries or events while the Assembly

          7  proposal does not  call for that which would lead to

          8  huge increases in sentences and have a deterrent

          9  effect both of stopping people from driving while

         10  intoxicated and keeping these people off the roads

         11  once they are convicted of this.

         12                 DA Donovan, if you do know, what

         13  other penalty differences are there in the

         14  legislation in Albany on both sides of the hall?

         15                 MR. DONOVAN: Well one of the

         16  proposals -- The Governor has a five point proposal.

         17    One of the five points is to increase the

         18  penalties for hit and run drivers.  Many, many

         19  times, hit and run drivers, especially people who

         20  are intoxicated have no incentive to stay at the

         21  scene of an accident.  Even if you surrender later

         22  on, after your blood alcohol content has diminished,

         23  it's to your advantage.  So it's almost like we are

         24  rewarding people for not staying at the scene of a

         25  crime where someone is injured or killed.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Explain why that

          3  is?

          4                 MR. DONOVAN: Right now there is a

          5  penalty for leaving the scene of an accident, but

          6  that penalty is less than if you had stayed at that

          7  accident and were found to be intoxicated. So there

          8  is an incentive that if you hit a car or a

          9  pedestrian and injure someone or kill someone, there

         10  is an incentive to leave. That's ridiculous.

         11                 The Governor's proposal will increase

         12  the penalties for people who injure or kill somebody

         13  in a vehicular accident and leave that scene.  It's

         14  only common sense for law enforcement.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Again, let me

         16  just go through some boring information here, but

         17  people should know.  Currently, if you do drive

         18  drunk and cause serious physical injury or death,

         19  with the additional negligence, it's an E felony,

         20  punishable by up to four years in jail.  The

         21  Assembly proposal does not increase that from an E

         22  felony or from four years in jail.  And again, does

         23  not differentiate between serious physical injury or

         24  death.  While the Governor's proposal would increase

         25  the crime to a D felony, if it's serious physical
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          2  injury, punishable by up to seven years and a C

          3  felony if a death, punishable by up to 15 years.

          4  Again, consecutive time is possible and in both of

          5  those cases no additional negligence must be proven.

          6

          7                 In addition, as you said, the

          8  Governor's proposal does deal with suspended,

          9  revoked licenses.  It does increase the penalty for

         10  that without any showing of additional negligence.

         11  Again, to a D felony with injury and a C felony if

         12  death.

         13                 Again, if you both had to see a

         14  compromise bill put through, what aspects of what I

         15  said would have to be in the compromise bill?

         16                 MR. DONOVAN: I can't see anything

         17  that ought to be taken out.  I know, when people

         18  differ in opinions, we have to compromise in order

         19  to get something passed.  So what we are going here

         20  is trying to figure out what we could live with for

         21  a little bit longer in order to remove something or

         22  satisfy people of other opinions.  But I have to

         23  tell you Chairman, there is nothing in the

         24  Governor's five points, wherein the Senate bill,

         25  that I don't see as a necessary tool for law
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          2  enforcement, a necessary tool for myself and our 61

          3  colleagues throughout the State in order to make the

          4  streets of New York State safer for its citizens.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Do you have

          6  anything to add to that Mr. Petrosino?

          7                 MR. PETROSINO:  I agree with District

          8  Attorney Donovan.  Also, I think it's very important

          9  that they pass the bill that allows us to charge a

         10  drunk or drugged drive with a homicide if he is

         11  caught behind the wheel and he kills somebody.

         12  Making it an affirmative defense where that driver

         13  has to show us, had he been sober, the accident

         14  still would have occurred, with the incident.  These

         15  things aren't accidents.  That's a good compromise.

         16  So the defendant still could show that he, had he

         17  been sober, he wouldn't have killed a person and it

         18  wasn't his fault.

         19                 But we should be allowed to charge,

         20  as in the Queens case, that if you are drunk and you

         21  are driving and you kill somebody, you should be

         22  subject to homicide penalties.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I absolutely

         24  agree.  Council Member Monserrate was here, he's

         25  coming back.  Council Member Gentile has joined us.

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  I already mentioned Council Member Gennaro. Let me

          3  go to Council Member Reed for a question.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you again

          5  Chair.  Thank you gentlemen for your testimony.  I'm

          6  not clear, I do understand the difference between

          7  suspension and revocation.  But how is it possible

          8  that someone's license was even suspended for 15

          9  times? I'm presuming that means, it hadn't been

         10  revoked.  Is a judge not aware of the fact of the

         11  first 14 or the first 10?

         12                 MR. DONOVAN: Thank you for your

         13  question Councilman. Many, many times there is

         14  multiple suspensions from multiple offenses.  Some

         15  of them, as my colleague said, have nothing to do

         16  with a traffic infraction.  You failed to pay your

         17  child support an your license may be suspended.  So

         18  it's not a vehicular infraction. Many times if you

         19  are stopped and you have no drivers license, no

         20  insurance card, you may get multiple suspension.

         21  And if you don't pay those fines, your license will

         22  be suspended.  So it may say you received five

         23  suspensions and they all happened on the same date

         24  because you may have five infractions that you never

         25  paid the fine for instead of suspending your license
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          2  for each infraction.

          3                 The person that we were speaking

          4  about, particularly in the Michael Vasquez- Moore

          5  case, had her license suspended and revoked in a

          6  different state.  We lost the case, even on the

          7  traffic infraction because we couldn't prove the

          8  Department of Motor Vehicle actually informed her

          9  properly that her license was suspended.  Because we

         10  have to prove she knew she was driving with a

         11  suspended license.  And the Department of Motor

         12  Vehicle, in this instance, in this particular case,

         13  had sent the notification to an address that was

         14  five- years- old.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, I'm

         16  sitting dumbstruck because of the dumbness of your

         17  Department of Motor Vehicles I guess.  But I would

         18  certainly want to look at legislation.  Perhaps you

         19  would want to help us, to change that.  I mean maybe

         20  there is reason to have x number of vehicular

         21  suspensions that triggers an automatic revocation or

         22  something. But even if, you know, there is a level

         23  of irresponsibility because you haven't paid child

         24  support or of all the other things, it seems to me

         25  that you don't have to get into double- digit
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          2  suspension before, you know, it ought to be

          3  representational that you are not a responsible

          4  person.

          5                 All's it seems to me that, you know,

          6  doesn't the law require your address on your license

          7  to be current?

          8                 MR. PETROSINO: I suspect it does.  In

          9  addition to that I suspect the Department of Motor

         10  Vehicle gives you time to make that correction or

         11  that adjustment.  Is it 30 days?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes, maybe 30

         13  days, 60 days. Out of all of these issues I can see

         14  your level of frustration. But I would certainly

         15  want to look at legislation on the State level that

         16  would shrink that.

         17                 I am also curious as to why we are

         18  not confiscating people's cars if they have x number

         19   -- If their license is revoked why are we not

         20  taking their car?  I mean some people objected when

         21  they first had this business with the drunk driving

         22  and they would just take your car, you know impound

         23  the car. But it seemed to be effective.  Now why is

         24  it that we are not revoking, not when we revoke

         25  somebody's license, we're not taking the car or at
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          2  least holding, if somebody is driving someone else's

          3  car, that would be interesting to know, why we are

          4  not holding that person responsible.

          5                 MR. PETROSINO: Well, actually we can,

          6  but the legislation only requires us, allows us

          7  actually, to take cars if it's a felony driving

          8  while suspended, which means more than ten

          9  suspensions on ten dates.  So, we can do it but we

         10  can't do it until they reach that level.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Does the new

         12  legislation change that?

         13                 MR. PETROSINO: I don't believe so.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It should.

         15                 MR. PETROSINO: Also you talk about

         16  notice on these things.  Notice is a big problem.

         17  The Department of Motor Vehicle sends out a form

         18  notice to the people that their license is suspended

         19  and then we can take them to trial on a suspended

         20  license.  It's an element to the crime that we have

         21  to prove.  Now the Supreme Court came down with a

         22  case called Crawford, (phonetic) which has really

         23  thrown a monkey wrench into this because they are

         24  saying, some judges are now saying that this notice

         25  is testimonial and you can't do it that way and
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          2  there is a statute in the VTL that allows us to do

          3  it that way, but the judge is saying that statute is

          4  unconstitutional.

          5                 You know, the problem is easily

          6  fixed.  Legislation has to be passed that when you

          7  get a summons from a police officer, there should be

          8  a statement on there that says, if you fail to

          9  respond to this summons, you are on notice that your

         10  license will be suspended.  So you can't come into

         11  court and say, I had no notice my license was

         12  suspended. That's ridiculous.  It didn't appear on

         13  the ticket that you got.  That's notice enough.

         14  But, that's not what the law is now.  We have to

         15  prove that they got proper notice.  And that's

         16  becoming very difficult now, especially with this

         17  new case.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You might also

         19  want to have one there, of course you don't want the

         20  statement to be forever, but that you know, the

         21  information on your license is factual and current.

         22  I know if the address on the license is not where I

         23  am living any more.  It might be that you just

         24  haven't had a chance. But, if you sign that within

         25  the 30 days, you now know you said, yes this
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          2  information is correct.  It's up to you -- I just

          3  think you're hands are tied.  We're trying to held

          4  you untie them.

          5                 I think this whole issue of ten

          6  offenses before you take the car, all of those

          7  things need to be taken into account. Because if

          8  someone's livelihood, which often times is what

          9  people will argue is why they can't have their car

         10  taken away from them, is involved here, I think

         11  there is some responsibility.  But, you know at some

         12  part people get wise to the fact, well you know, I

         13  only have seven suspensions, I've got to have

         14  another three before they take the car.

         15                 So I encourage you, you know offer

         16  suggestions.  I would certainly encourage my

         17  colleagues to talk to our colleagues in the State

         18  Legislature and find out why.  Why is this thing not

         19  happening.  Thank you very much.

         20                 MR DONOVAN: And Councilman also,

         21  besides the ten suspensions, as my colleague said,

         22  it has to be on ten different dates.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes.

         24                 MR. DONOVAN: So that means ten

         25  different occurrences have to occur before this
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          2  happens.

          3                 MR. PETROSINO: Plus, I would just

          4  like to make a correction here because Ms.

          5  McCormick, who knows everything about vehicular law

          6  told me that the Governor's legislation says that

          7  notice is presumed after three suspensions.  So that

          8  would help.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you for

         10  that Ms. McCormick.  Council Member Foster.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.  DA

         12  Donovan and Deputy District Attorney Petrosino.  Did

         13  I say that correctly?

         14                 MR. PETROSINO: That's correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Okay, good.  A

         16  couple of questions.  The police, in testifying,

         17  indicated that the number of arrests for drunk

         18  driving and DWI has gone up and my question to them

         19  and I will pose the same thing to you.  Do you think

         20  the number has increased either we are having more

         21  drunk drivers or the police are more focused and on-

         22  point in terms of snatching up DWIs?

         23                 MR. DONOVAN: Well Councilwoman, I've

         24  been in office for a year so I can only account for

         25  what happens now for the last calendar year.  We
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          2  approached 800 drunk driving arrests on Staten

          3  Island.  That was an increase from about 635 the

          4  previous year.

          5                 I praise the men and women, one of

          6  the most dangerous things a police officer ever does

          7  in their career is a car stop.  Now we have men and

          8  women who 800 times this year stopped people who

          9  were driving while they were drunk, which increases

         10  the danger of stopping that car.  The men and women

         11  in New York City Police Department TVTA, the Port

         12  Authority did a magnificent job for the people of

         13  Staten Island.  So I credit their enforcement.

         14                 I have nothing to compare to other

         15  than statistics because I wasn't there before

         16  calendar year of '04.  But it is just astronomical.

         17  The MADD, Mother's Against Drunk Driving, years ago

         18  did a study that said for every person that is

         19  arrested for drunk driving there is probably a

         20  hundred other drunk drivers on the road at that

         21  given moment.  That means Staten Island had 80

         22  thousand drunk drivers on their road last year, if

         23  we arrested 800 of them. But I do not know whether

         24  it's because there's an increase in enforcement -- I

         25  don't know what the enforcement was the previous
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          2  years, but I can tell you they did a magnificent job

          3  this year for the people of Staten Island.

          4                 MR. PETROSINO: I think that the

          5  number of drunk drivers are probably up.  I think

          6  that's probably -- enforcement may account for some

          7  of it, but the numbers are up because across the

          8  country, according to the National Highway Traffic

          9  Administration, drunk drivers are spiking again.

         10  They went down for awhile, now they are starting to

         11  spike again.  So I think this is a problem that is

         12  nationwide, not just a New York problem.  I think

         13  they are going up across- the- board.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: I would agree

         15  with you, I know, I like the Chairperson am a former

         16  ADA in Manhattan and some of the most creative

         17  arguments I heard when I was standing up on cases

         18  where drunk driving and you know, the ball game

         19  excuse, he was at the ball game, you know you drink

         20  at the ball game.  And I ask that question from your

         21  perspective, but I would agree with you. I think

         22  that this is one area that I believe it is important

         23  that all of us are one accord in terms of our belief

         24  that it needs to be, the law needs to be more

         25  stringent.
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          2                 Is there a jurisdiction that you know

          3  of that currently has in- place the legislation that

          4  you spoke of in terms of being intoxicated or drunk

          5  is presumptuous enough, and if so, what are the

          6  stats from that jurisdiction in that, has drunk

          7  driving kind of gone down or anything, if you know.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Ms. McCormick,

          9  you can just take a microphone.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: That would be

         11  helpful because you seem to have the information. I

         12  think that would be very interesting.

         13                 MR. PETROSINO: We brought our expert.

         14                 MS. MC CORMICK: Thank you.  There is

         15  one midwest state, I think it is Illinois, I'm not

         16  positive.  They wrote their statute to be that it is

         17  a per se if you are drunk and someone has been

         18  killed or seriously injured, but that statute is

         19  still under challenge.  So it's difficult to say

         20  whether it's had a deterrent effect, because it

         21  hasn't been allowed to proceed yet.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: And do you

         23  know what the basis of the challenge is, with the

         24  law.

         25                 MS. MC CORMICK: Causation.  There is
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          2  an issue as to whether or not making a per se rule,

          3  takes out the element of causation.  But the

          4  Governor's bill in providing the affirmative

          5  defense, allows for that to be challenged.  So, we

          6  believe that the Governor's bill as written, would

          7  survive that challenge.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: For the new

         10  members and for the record.  Maureen McCormick is

         11  the Chief of Vehicular Crimes at the Brooklyn DA's

         12  Office.  Correct?

         13                 MS. MC CORMICK: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We have two more

         15  Council Members.  I'll ask you to try to keep your

         16  questioning to one or two only because I want to get

         17  to the families, they have been waiting awhile here.

         18    Council Member Gennaro.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Thank you

         20  Mr. Chair, thank you for your advocacy on this issue

         21  and your leadership today.  A quick question, anyone

         22  can really take it.  I make an apology if this has

         23  been asked before I was able to come here.

         24                 Now you have a good sense of what the

         25  Governor would do and what the State Senate version
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          2  of the bill would do and when you compare what those

          3  bills contain with what is in the nearby states,

          4  would the Governor's bill, as drafted, be sort of on

          5  a par with what already is in place in other states

          6  nearby and other states around the country, or do

          7  you believe it would be considered more strict than

          8  what is in place in a lot of areas in the country?

          9  How does it measure up in terms of strictness with

         10  what is already in place in other areas of the

         11  country, to the extent that you might have knowledge

         12  of that?

         13                 MS. MC CORMICK: Vehicular Crimes

         14  legislation varies throughout the country so it

         15  would not be really something that you could compare

         16  it with, it would be apples and oranges.  New

         17  Jersey, for instance, has much lesser DWI standards.

         18    So from state- to state --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Meaning less

         20  strict?

         21                 MS. MC CORMICK: Yes.  For the longest

         22  time DWI's were not considered crimes in New Jersey.

         23  There are issues though from state- to- state that

         24  should be addressed in particular.  It is not

         25  contained in any of the legislation and might be a
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          2  point of compromise.

          3                 Currently if someone is convicted for

          4  a DWI or what would be considered a DWI in this

          5  State, out- of- state that fact cannot be used to

          6  elevate an in- State DWI to a felony.  Right now in

          7  New York State, if you were convicted for a DWI

          8  within ten years, a second DWI would result in that

          9  being a felony.

         10                 If you are convicted for a DWI in

         11  Pennsylvania, and a year later come to New York, it

         12  would not be a felony.  So someone with an out- of-

         13  state DWI gets the benefit of having their in- State

         14  DWI treated as a first defense and that's just

         15  wrong.  It makes no sense.  Particularly where we

         16  have such commuting between our borders.

         17                 Additionally, right now, and not

         18  within any of the bills, there is a giant loophole

         19  with respect to drugs and intoxication.  As we

         20  speak, the Public Health Law 3306 defines driving

         21  while impaired by a drug on that list, exclusively

         22  3306.               In Brooklyn, we have a case

         23  where a young man decided it would be a good idea to

         24  ingest inhalants and become intoxicated doing that

         25  while he was driving.  He drove into oncoming
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          2  traffic and killed an innocent woman in another car.

          3  But under our law the way it is written, that's not

          4  considered driving while intoxicated according to

          5  some of our courts.

          6                 I propose -- I don't propose it, but

          7  I suggest that a possibility for compromise might be

          8  that we adopt finally a definition of intoxication

          9  that conforms to the People v. Cruz (phonetic),

         10  substantially impaired to the point where you are

         11  incapable of operating a motor vehicle from any

         12  substance or combination of substances.  What would

         13  close a giant loophole in the law.

         14                 So there are a number of small steps,

         15  notification on 5lls, you could close that loophole

         16  by simply saying that the fact that there is a

         17  suspension order within the Department of Motor

         18  Vehicles computer system, means that it was mailed

         19  to your home because that is the way it works.  We

         20  are in the age of computers, no one stamps the

         21  envelop any more.  So the driver should not get the

         22  benefit of these little loopholes.

         23                 Conditional licenses.  A driver who

         24  has been convicted for DWI and receives a

         25  conditional license, there is an argument in the
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          2  courts as to whether or not if they are caught

          3  driving intoxicated again, whether that will qualify

          4  for a felony 511.  These are silly things, of course

          5  it should be a felony.

          6                 A driver who has been given the

          7  benefit of being allowed to drive back and forth to

          8  work, shouldn't then not get the felony when they

          9  are driving drunk again.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Ms. McCormick,

         11  in most of those we are writing up resolutions as

         12  you speak to introduce them here in the City Council

         13  to give whatever weight we can to help out because

         14  those are excellent ideas.

         15                 Councilman Gennaro, if you don't

         16  mind, I just want to interrupt because we are

         17  discussing new legislation.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  There is a bill

         19  that I don't believe is part of the Governor's

         20  package or any package, which would make it a felony

         21  to have it over .18 alone, without any other

         22  criteria.  I am going to be introducing resolutions

         23  supporting it, but before I did that I wanted to get

         24  your opinion on that one.

         25                 MR. DONOVAN: There is certainly a
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          2  variety of drunk driving.  There is a difference of

          3  being a .08 and a .20.  So the severity of someone's

          4  intoxication right now, is measured as one. It could

          5  be .08 or you could be a .28 and the penalty is the

          6  same. Certainly the reason why we measure people's

          7  blood alcohol is because the higher the blood

          8  alcohol content is, the more impaired they are going

          9  to be.

         10                 So certainly, and I believe I have

         11  read in different areas, when we were talking about

         12  different legislation in different communities,

         13  there are states that distinguish between a minimum

         14  impairment or intoxication compared to an excessive

         15  one. So that's a terrific idea Mr. Chairman and it

         16  should be measured differently.  Where that cut off

         17  ought to be, whether it should be .18 or .2, even in

         18  these states that do that there is various levels

         19  that the cut off between misdemeanor and felony are

         20  measured.  But certainly it is something that our

         21  legislators ought to look at.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

         23  that's very helpful.  Council Member Gennaro.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Yes, in

         25  interest of a final comment, many of the good
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          2  questions have already been answered.  I just wanted

          3  to thank you very much for your great work on this

          4  issue and all of the wise council that you bring for

          5  us today, which I am very confident that the

          6  Chairman will run with. And I thank you on behalf of

          7  the whole Committee for that.

          8                 But thank you very much for being

          9  here and being so dedicated in this up- hill fight

         10  against drunk drivers.  Thank you.

         11  Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you

         13  Council Member. Council Member Jennings.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Good

         15  morning.  DA Donovan, you mentioned earlier that

         16  every morning you come into work and you check the

         17  arrests from the night before and they have a lot of

         18  suspended licenses.  How many of those suspensions

         19  are administrative suspensions, suspensions due to

         20  insurance, lack of insurance?

         21                 MR. DONOVAN: The on- line bookings

         22  that I review won't reveal that.  What it will

         23  reveal is that a check was done on someone's license

         24  and it showed three suspensions on one date, seven

         25  suspensions on three dates, whatever it may be and
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          2  that's distinguished by how many traffic infractions

          3  or other infractions you may have received on a

          4  particular date.  Like I said, you may get three one

          5  date and --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: It doesn't

          7  distinguish --

          8                 MR. DONOVAN: The on- line bookings

          9  that I review that the police department does,

         10  doesn't reveal to me why the license was suspended.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: A lot of law

         12  abiding citizens have paid insurance by

         13  automatically coming out of their checking account.

         14  And there are times then people may have, their pay

         15  check didn't hit the bank on time and the insurance

         16  company didn't collect their payment and their

         17  license is suspended, and they might not be aware

         18  that their license was suspended.  What type of

         19  rationalization do you have.  Are you suggesting

         20  that people fall into that type of category should

         21  be charged with felonies?

         22                 MR. DONOVAN: No, what happens in that

         23  case, if you could prove that you made the effort to

         24  insure your car, actually the ticket is your not

         25  responsible for.
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          2                 MR. JENNINGS: I'm not referring to

          3  tickets, I'm referring to many law abiding citizens

          4  who obey the law, find their license being

          5  suspended, not even aware, for maybe months and

          6  months they are driving around didn't even know

          7  their license was suspended.

          8                 MR. DONOVAN: That would happen

          9  Council Member if you received a parking ticket and

         10  it blew off your windshield and you didn't even know

         11  that you received it.

         12                 MR. JENNINGS: I don't think your

         13  license would be suspended for parking tickets in

         14  New York City.

         15                 MR. DONOVAN: Well, if you haven't

         16  paid the fines and they accumulate, then you would

         17  receive a suspension.

         18                 MR. JENNINGS: Okay. So that's the

         19  administrative suspension.  But not suspension for a

         20  moving violation, not for taking a life or speeding.

         21  I was referring to people, law abiding citizens who

         22  get an administrative suspension such as license

         23  being suspended because of them failing to pay

         24  insurance, or are you suggesting people like that

         25  get charged with felonies, if they are in an
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          2  accident that may cause some type of serious harm?

          3                 MR. DONOVAN: No, people in those

          4  categories are actually able to prove that they

          5  attempted to make their payments. Or, that there was

          6  default of the insurance company that they didn't

          7  receive --

          8                 MR. JENNINGS: To prove --

          9                 MR. DONOVAN: Right.

         10                 MR. JENNINGS: You are going to charge

         11  with a felony until otherwise?

         12                 MR. DONOVAN: If someone has a

         13  suspended license and it is for lack of insurance,

         14  we allow people then to show that they actually had

         15  insurance, if you are stopped for a traffic

         16  infraction and you don't have your insurance card

         17  with you.  The law permits you to go to traffic

         18  court and show that you had valid insurance at the

         19  time.  And then you are not penalized for it.

         20                 MR. JENNINGS: I'm referring to the

         21  new legislation that you want to propose, regarding

         22  a person who has a suspended license, maybe for

         23  because their insurance, they didn't pay their

         24  insurance on time.  There license was suspended

         25  while they were driving around and they were not
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          2  aware that their license was suspended and they get

          3  involved with a serious car accident.  Are you

          4  proposing that we charge these people with felonies?

          5                 MR. DONOVAN: Well, the law requires

          6  you to have insurance.

          7                 MR. JENNINGS: Of course.

          8                 MR. DONOVAN: If you don't have

          9  insurance and it's to your fault if you didn't pay

         10  your insurance, then you should be charged.

         11                 MR. JENNINGS: Right.

         12                 MR. DONOVAN: If you made attempts to

         13  pay it and the insurance company computer glitch

         14  showed that you didn't pay it or something of that

         15  matter, then of course not.  We are not going to

         16  charge people with felonies, people who have

         17  actually obeyed the law.

         18                 MR. JENNINGS: Right.

         19                 MR. DONOVAN: Only people who have not

         20  obeyed the law.

         21                 MR. JENNINGS: So you distinguish a

         22  difference between a person driving with insurance,

         23  having a car accident, causing serious injury, but

         24  there was an accident, not being charged with a

         25  felony.  But someone who has their license suspended
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          2  because of insurance lapse and caused serious

          3  injury, that person should be charged with a felony.

          4

          5                 MR. DONOVAN: Absolutely.

          6                 MR. JENNINGS: I understand.  Thank

          7  you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you

          9  Council Member.  The Council Members have many more

         10  questions, as do myself.  But again, because of

         11  time, we are going to follow up with you in writing

         12  and phone calls.  So thank you all for coming down

         13  and for your efforts, especially DA Donovan leading

         14  the charge here to get Albany to change these laws

         15  and to provide real penalties as a deterrent here.

         16  So thank you.

         17                 The next panel will be made up of the

         18  parents of the children of the recent tragedy, Diana

         19  Reyes and Monique Dixon, who will come up with

         20  Attorney Sanford Rubenstein.  The last panel after

         21  that will be Margaret Lang with Mothers Against

         22  Drunk Driving and Kit Hodge with Transportation

         23  Alternatives.

         24                 Thank you for coming and as we've

         25  spoken previously to this, let me again just express
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          2  my sympathies, everyone up here on this panel, for

          3  your great loss.  I am a father of a nine- year old

          4  and an eleven- year- old and I just can't imagine.

          5  We are doing everything we can here to help and we

          6  stand ready to do anything you need us to do to help

          7  you.

          8                 Again, let me commend you because

          9  it's because of your efforts that we are here today

         10  and we are all hopeful that it will be because of

         11  your efforts that Albany will eventually change this

         12  law to protect other children.

         13                 Before we get to your statements let

         14  me just call on Council Member Gennaro in whose

         15  district this occurred. Councilman.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you Mr.

         17  Chairman.  Hi Monique and Diana and Sanford and

         18  Tracy.  I know that this terrible tragedy has

         19  brought us close over the last couple of months and

         20  I just want to echo what Chairman Vallone was saying

         21  in that to the extent that we get a victory and we

         22  will get a big victory.  This will be borne out of a

         23  mother's love or out of two mother's love. You are

         24  changing the way, righting a terrible, terrible

         25  wrong that has been a burden around this State for
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          2  so many years and it's sad and tragic that it had to

          3  fall to you two to bear this burden.  But I know

          4  that the love that you have for your sons is pulling

          5  you through this and making you go on.  A mother's

          6  love is the closest thing to God's love that any of

          7  us will ever know, at least on this Earth.

          8                 I thank you for your great advocacy

          9  and I thank you for being here today and I along

         10  with the Chairman of this Committee, along with the

         11  Members of this Committee will do everything we can

         12  to make our voice heard in Albany so that we get

         13  what we all know that we need.  So, thank you all

         14  very much and God bless you.  I look forward to your

         15  statement.

         16                 Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you

         18  Council Member.  Let me just introduce some of the

         19  Council Members who I have introduced while they

         20  were gone.  Council Member Monserrate, Council

         21  Member Katz, and Council Member Yassky.  Thank you

         22  again for coming and I will leave the order up to

         23  the people at the table and whoever wants to begin,

         24  may begin.

         25                 MS. DIXON:  Mr. Chair, Council
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          2  Members, friends, citizens and fellow parents.  My

          3  name is Monique Dixon.  Thank you for allowing me

          4  the time in extending the invitation to address our

          5  legislators on issues of monumental importance.  The

          6  issues I want to discuss today are non- partisan.

          7  The law of nature and the DWI laws of New York

          8  State.

          9                 Take a moment to recall just how your

         10  day started this morning.  Probably just like any

         11  other.  However it started, close your eyes and

         12  imaging another beginning.

         13                 Imagine waking up, your morning

         14  routine begins.  You thank God for another day.  You

         15  wake your only child, a vivacious and loving 11-

         16  year- old, the one person you'd give your own life

         17  for, with tickles for school as you do each day,

         18  knowing he likes to begin his day with a smile.

         19                 All day, you dream of looking into

         20  his eyes while asking him how his day was, as you

         21  start your evening routine.  Now you arrive home and

         22  explain to your child and their friend that it's all

         23  right for them to go out and play.  Before the two

         24  children leave, you hug and kiss your child, in

         25  private of course. Eleven- year- olds are often
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          2  embarrassed when their parents openly show

          3  affection.  The last thing your child says to you

          4  before leaving is, Mommy, I'm going now.

          5                 Earlier this day John Wirta of Queens

          6  also begins his routine. At his day's end he doesn't

          7  rush home to his family. Instead, he leaves his job

          8  in his company van and goes straight to a local bar.

          9    He consumes enough alcohol to bring his 225 pound

         10  body to a blood alcohol level of .13.  An

         11  intoxicated John Wirta then attempts to maneuver

         12  that same two- ton van down a residential street in

         13  your neighborhood.  At 7:40 pm your child and his

         14  friend attempt to properly cross a street on their

         15  way home to get an overnight bag, when an

         16  intoxicated John Wirta, carelessly and recklessly

         17  mows down your only child and his best friend.

         18                 Now there you are, your day ending

         19  looking into the face of your now dying only child

         20  and his critically injured friend.  While John Wirta

         21  staggers out of his van and stumbles to the curb

         22  where he sits slumped, dazed and inebriated.

         23  Imaging being told your child is dead, his friend is

         24  in a coma and the perpetrator, a slap on the wrist

         25  will be his only punishment because prosecutors have
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          2  not been able to prove he broke any "other" traffic

          3  laws.

          4                 As the current law stands, the John

          5  Wirta's all over New York can take the lives of our

          6  children and loved ones, leaving us with

          7  overwhelming grief, withering flowers and funeral

          8  expenses. Nature did not intend for any parent to

          9  ever have to bury a child. There is nothing natural

         10  about this.

         11                 The current DWI laws inhumanly and

         12  apathetically uphold the taking of innocent lives by

         13  allowing for minimal consequences, even though

         14  driving while intoxicated is already a crime.  By

         15  definition, negligence is "attending to with a lack

         16  of sufficient care."  This makes DWI a crime within

         17  itself.

         18                 A negligence, which we all know is

         19  completely avoidable.  Simply stated, if DWI is

         20  already a crime and committing it is negligent, why

         21  does the current law allow for further negligence

         22  before a felony charge is handed down?  This in

         23  essence allows a drunk driver to commit not one, but

         24  two crimes before they are penalized.  While the

         25  victims are afforded no second chances. My son,
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          2  VaSean Phillip Alleyne will never have a second

          3  chance.

          4                 John Wirta took the life of my only

          5  child.  A child who will never know about the good

          6  grade he received on an exam taken on his last day.

          7  A child who will never know the answer to a love

          8  note I found in the pocket of the pants he wore that

          9  day, addressed to his secret crush, which simply

         10  read, "Do you like me? Check yes or no."  A child

         11  who will never know what it's like to graduate from

         12  college, marry or have children of his own,

         13  grandchildren that I will never have.  A child who

         14  could have never imagined that "Mommy, I'm going

         15  now" would have meant forever.

         16                 In all of my despair and grief, I

         17  reach out to you, people who are not only

         18  sympathetic, but also have the power to change the

         19  law to protect the lives of New York State citizens

         20  from here on.  For me, for my deceased only child

         21  VaSean Alleyne, for Angel Reyes, who now lives with

         22  a permanent shunt in his brain, for the 25 thousand

         23  people who have signed this petition, for

         24  yourselves.  I am appealing and I am pleading and I

         25  am begging you to put pressure on our lawmakers to
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          2  amend the current DWI laws by passing VaSean's Law.

          3  An amendment, which requires no additional

          4  negligence when a DWI results in death or serious

          5  injury, punishable by a minimum C or D felony.

          6              No one should have to go through what I

          7  now go through. No one should be unable to get

          8  justice through the current law.  I ask you, how

          9  many more innocent people will have to be killed by

         10  drunk drivers before a proposed amendment is voted

         11  on and passed?

         12                 Who else's child has to die before

         13  we, the citizens of New York State are given what is

         14  rightfully ours, laws that protect us and punish

         15  those that break those laws with consequences equal

         16  to the crime.

         17                 Remember, I only asked you to imagine

         18  the events that occurred on October 22nd.  You can

         19  open your eyes and have that nightmare end.  As for

         20  myself, Diana Reyes, Peggy Lang and countless

         21  others, our nightmares continue whether our eyes are

         22  opened or shut.  They say that a picture says a

         23  thousand words. When I woke up on October 22nd this

         24  was my family and my future. At 1:02 am when my son

         25  was pronounced dead, this became my family and my
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          2  future.  Help me so that this doesn't to someone

          3  else without punishment.

          4                 MS. REYES: Good morning.  My name is

          5  Diana Reyes and I am the mother of Angel Reyes, one

          6  of the children hit by John Wirta, a drunk driver.

          7  On the early evening of October 22nd, 2004, Angel

          8  and his best friend VaSean planned a sleep- over at

          9  my apartment.  The boys spent all day together

         10  unaware that it would be the last time they shared

         11  each others company.  That afternoon was the last

         12  time VaSean would see his home and his loving mother

         13  ever again and the last time he ever saw daylight.

         14  As they traveled over to VaSean's house from my

         15  house to pick up VaSean's belongings, tragically

         16  they never made it there.

         17                 That night in my home would have been

         18  filled with video games, their favorite toy

         19   "beyblades" and endless laughter so common to their

         20  friendship.  Sadly this never came to pass. Instead

         21  there were tears and anguish from everyone.  We were

         22  hoping to see a sign that they both would pull

         23  through and come out all right.

         24                 We watched as a numerous amount of

         25  people struggled to save them.  Different doctors
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          2  were called in.  Several procedures were attempted

          3  as more foreign objects were inserted into our boys,

          4  uncertainty filled our hearts as the news became

          5  less hopeful by the minute.  Worst of all, we knew

          6  there was nothing that either of us could do but to

          7  put our faith in the hands of the doctors, the

          8  hospital staff and God himself.  We were helpless,

          9  observing from afar while slowly dying of anguish

         10  inside. We watched our boys, side by side, for what

         11  proved to be the last time they would be together,

         12  as they fought for their lives.

         13                 Angel miraculously survived that

         14  night, against the odds stacked against him.  He

         15  suffered permanent physical and psychological

         16  injuries.  Angel was transferred to New York

         17  Presbyterian Hospital in Manhattan, which

         18  specializes in pediatric trauma for further

         19  treatment, as his brain distended faster by the

         20  minute.

         21                 As I said goodbye to VaSean's mother

         22  I felt very afraid of how this situation would all

         23  turn out as I left them behind in New York Hospital

         24  of Queens.  I cried and prepared to begin on my long

         25  journey with Angel.  It was determined that he had
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          2  both intraventricular and subarachnoid hemorrhages

          3  in the brain. He further required a ventriculostomy,

          4  which is a tube placed in the ventricle of the brain

          5  to drain excess fluid to reduce swelling.  This

          6  procedure was done around midnight.  He was

          7  intubated and attached to a ventilator so he could

          8  breathe.

          9                 In critical condition Angel remained

         10  in a coma for eight days, while I stood vigil to my

         11  child who had endured this extreme and needless

         12  amount of pain.  It was only later that the

         13  paramedic that had transported Angel there had tears

         14  in his eyes. I asked him where VaSean was and he

         15  said that he did not have to pick him up.  When I

         16  questioned the reason why, he then regretfully told

         17  me that VaSean didn't make it and then offered his

         18  condolences to me.  VaSean Alleyne had lost his

         19  fight for his life in the dawn of that early

         20  morning.  I was in disbelief and denial and thinking

         21  this could only be a nightmare and this wasn't

         22  really happening. It was at that moment that I knew

         23  that we could lose Angel also. This moment changed

         24  my life forever.

         25                 My concern was for my child and I was

                                                            92

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  by his side every second of this ordeal.  At the

          3  same time my thoughts and my heart were with

          4  Monique, VaSean's mother, and her overbearing new

          5  reality.  How this woman could deal with the loss of

          6  her only child so young and full of life cut

          7  tragically too short.  When I called her that somber

          8  morning she expressed her deep concern for my child

          9  even through her pain of having just lost her own.

         10  Her strength is beyond remarkable and I admire her

         11  for this greatly.  How any mother could lose their

         12  child in this manner and still be able to fight the

         13  good fight is amazing.

         14                 We are here today before you so that

         15  you can see how drinking and driving can take

         16  innocent lives, change lives and destroy lives.

         17  Angel now has to live with a permanent disability

         18  for the rest of his life from his injuries caused by

         19  this incident. He has a ventricular- perineal shunt

         20  that will constantly drain excess cerebral spinal

         21  fluid from his brain to his stomach for the rest of

         22  his life.  Additionally, he will have to live with

         23  the emotional and traumatic distress of this

         24  tragedy.

         25                 No one will ever be able to replace a
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          2  loved one like VaSean, and it has been long enough

          3  that these and similar cases have been allowed to

          4  occur in vain.  I implore you that the laws in this

          5  State must be toughened to discourage people from

          6  drinking and driving.  If the laws were different,

          7  individuals would think twice before being allowed

          8  to ruin a family, not to mention their own lives.

          9                 We were all taught at a young age the

         10  difference between right and wrong and that we are

         11  responsible for our own actions and decisions.  We

         12  are taught to expect consequences for our negative

         13  actions.  So why should it be any different for

         14  drunk drivers?  We have just begun our pledge to

         15  work tirelessly until we can change these laws for

         16  our fellow citizens so that no one else has to

         17  insensibly become victimized by a drunken driver.

         18  For DWI drivers causing death or serious injury

         19  punishment should fit the crime.  It must be a

         20  serious felony.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Before you go

         22  Ms. Rubenstein, I know you have a statement also.

         23  Let me thank you both for your eloquent and

         24  impassioned pleas on behalf of your children.  Most

         25  of us here speak for a living and we couldn't do it
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          2  as well as you just did and parents throughout the

          3  City and State are comforted knowing that you two

          4  are leading this fight to perhaps save their kids.

          5  So thank you very much.  Ms. Rubenstein.

          6                   MS. RUBENSTEIN: Thank you. My name

          7  is Sanford Rubenstein, I represent Diana Reyes on

          8  behalf of her son, Angel Reyes.  The driver of the

          9  vehicle had a blood alcohol content of .13 far in

         10  excess of the legal limit of .08.

         11                 While an investigation by the Queens

         12  District Attorney's Office, Homicide Bureau

         13  continues at this time with regard to the possible

         14  upgrading of the criminal charges in this case from

         15  a misdemeanor to a felony charge, unless prosecutors

         16  can prove, the driver of the vehicle, in addition to

         17  driving DWI, broke another traffic law, only a

         18  misdemeanor charge can be filed.

         19                 Under current law, a DWI driver who

         20  kills or seriously, permanently maims one for life

         21  only faces a misdemeanor charge, which carries a

         22  maximum of one year in prison.

         23                 The parents have met with the

         24  Governor, the Speaker to plea for more stringent

         25  legislation to punish as a serious felony DWI
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          2  drivers who cause death or serious injuries.  So

          3  that in the future in this State, DWI's, plus death

          4  or serious injury will mean a felony charge.

          5                 This resolution before the City

          6  Council, shines a spotlight on the issue and also

          7  speaks on behalf of all New Yorkers saying the law

          8  must be changed now.  The Governor has promised, the

          9  Speaker has promised that this new law, when they

         10  come to an agreement and we are confident that they

         11  will come to an agreement but they must come to an

         12  agreement.  It will be called VaSean's Law.  With

         13  that regard, I urge passage of resolution 338- A.

         14  Thank

         15  you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you Ms.

         17  Rubenstein.

         18  Please introduce yourself, as I neglected to before.

         19                 MS. BROWN: I am Tracy Brown with the

         20  Cochran Firm, we represent Monique Dixon and her

         21  family.

         22                 I just wanted to be clear that while

         23  this has been an obviously difficult time for

         24  Monique and her family, one of the things that has

         25  been encouraging, in terms of her meetings with both
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          2  the Governor and Sheldon Silver is that she is

          3  encouraged now that both sides are coming to the

          4  table in terms of getting the strongest law passed.

          5                 Neither Ms. Dixon nor Ms. Reyes want

          6  to be passed from side- to- side in terms of who

          7  gets to trump them up as they are supporting our

          8  bill.  What is important to them is that the

          9  strongest law that can pass is passed.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         11  Council Member Gennaro.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you Mr.

         13  Chairman.  I wish to echo Peter's comments about the

         14  passion in your statement. I think this is going to

         15  go a long way towards helping Albany do what it

         16  really needs to do.  In your opening statement

         17  Monique, about the start of your day, I mean I got

         18  up this morning, my daughter had almost a 105

         19  temperature and she was very disoriented, she was

         20  starting to hallucinate.  Fortunately we have a

         21  doctor in the neighborhood that was able to come

         22  over, but I know the fear that I had in my heart for

         23  about two hours there until she sort of came back to

         24  Earth a little bit.  I just can never imagine what

         25  you had to go through.
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          2                 By making sure that this doesn't

          3  happen again of course we have to get the toughest

          4  law that we can.  We have heard from earlier

          5  testimony the differences between the laws that have

          6  been put forward. I know that you all have been

          7  following it very closely and what is your read and

          8  whoever wants to take this -- Sanford do you want to

          9  take this perhaps.  What do you think the chances

         10  are that we are going to get something close to what

         11  the Governor has put forward and not something a

         12  little weaker.

         13                 MS. RUBENSTEIN: I have been informed

         14  recently that the staff's are negotiating.  And I

         15  think the key here is that we get a strong felony

         16  bill that will mean DWI plus death or serious injury

         17  will mean a serious felony.  That's the outline of

         18  parameter.  The details will be worked out by the

         19  staffs of both the Governor and the Speaker, as well

         20  as I am sure the staff of Senator Bruno.  We want a

         21  bill that will pass and that is strong so that it

         22  acts as a deterrent.  Because what this is all about

         23  is a deterrent so that no mother in the State will

         24  have to suffer what these mothers have suffered.

         25
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you.

          3  I'd just like to say, Mr. Chairman, you have my --

          4  certainly I wish to caucus with you and other

          5  members of this Committee and the staff of this

          6  Committee and I stand with you in terms of making

          7  our voice heard in the loudest possible way.  The

          8  minimum standard that this Committee, this body

          9  would take in terms of any law that comes out of

         10  Albany.  So I pledge you my cooperation in advance

         11  that we should make sure that we have our own little

         12  line that Albany must deliver on.  I think you did a

         13  great job of spelling out what that is earlier.  And

         14  I stand in support of you in making sure that we get

         15  that. Thank you all for being here today and I know

         16  we will continue to see each other as this fight

         17  unfolds.  Thank you again. Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you

         19  Council Member, especially for the help even prior

         20  to today in crafting this resolution and bringing

         21  this information to light.

         22                 Council Member Foster.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.  My

         24  question was actually answered in the testimony that

         25  you did meet with the Governor and the Speaker, and
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          2  I asked my name to be taken off the list.

          3                 But I could not sit here and not say

          4  to you that I extend my condolences number one, and

          5  I'm not embarrassed that I am breaking down, because

          6  I agree with you, no mother should have to go

          7  through that.  And while I am not a mother, it would

          8  be more concerning to me, as elected officials, if

          9  we sat here and we were not moved by your testimony.

         10

         11                 So, I just want to say that for me, I

         12  will reach out to both my local elected officials in

         13  the State and say whatever needs to be done, get it

         14  done number one and number two, wholeheartedly I

         15  will keep you and your family in my prayers because

         16  I believe in the power of prayer and I am sorry that

         17  you have to be here at this moment.

         18                 Like you said, I open my eyes and

         19  it's not a nightmare for me, but for the two of you,

         20  it is ongoing, and for that I do extend my

         21  condolences.  I pray that Angel -- you know God is

         22  good all the time and He can do amazing things and

         23  so I will pray for Angel's full recovery.  Thank

         24  you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: If I may, how is
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          2  Angel doing?

          3                 MS. REYES: He went back to school

          4  after the New year because he had the shunts, the

          5  permanent one, that went in after, when after we

          6  thought he was well.  The accident was October 22nd.

          7  Angel left rehab the day before Thanksgiving and we

          8  thought everything was fine until he woke up on

          9  December 7th and had a headache and nausea and

         10  vomiting. And when we found out he had excess

         11  cerebral spinal fluid, they had to put the permanent

         12  shunt in.

         13                 But since then, we waited through the

         14  vacation and we sent him back to school and so far

         15  he is doing all right.  I am in close contact with

         16  the school to make sure they have my number, they

         17  can contact me any time.  They know what to look

         18  for.  They have a note from the doctor.  So, they

         19  are a little nervous, but we have to let him get

         20  back to normal because that's what he wants to do

         21  and that's what I want.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank God for

         23  that.

         24                 Council Member Yassky.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you
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          2  Chair Vallone and also to Council Member Gennaro for

          3  bringing this issue before us, but more important

          4  these people.  I just want to say to Monique and

          5  Diana, thank you for your not just eloquent but very

          6  courageous testimony.  It's not an easy thing to do.

          7    I hope, I know certainly that we here on this

          8  Committee will work to do everything that we can do

          9  to make sure that your efforts are not wasted.

         10                 My only question is, and maybe the

         11  woman on the far left of the panel, I'm sorry I

         12  didn't catch your name, but --

         13                 MS. BROWN: Tracy Brown, sorry.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Ms. Brown, if

         15  you're the one that is mostly in touch with the

         16  Albany situation, what is the holdup exactly?  Who

         17  is it that Members of this Committee ought to be

         18  contacting to urge them to move speedily.

         19                 MS. BROWN: Well, honestly we spent a

         20  day in Albany meeting with people on the Assembly,

         21  as well as the Senate side. And in Council Member

         22  Jennings question to the last panel, a moment ago,

         23  he sort of hit the nail on the head.  There are a

         24  number of people that are concerned about the

         25  suspended license issue and how that is part of the
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          2  Governor's bill and apparently the Senate bill as

          3  well in terms of penalizing people as felons who are

          4  involved in accidents, even if they were not

          5  drinking, and their license may have been suspended

          6  because of lapsed insurance or something like that.

          7  So there seemed to be a number of people who told us

          8  that was their concern with the Governor's bill.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, I

         10  understand.  You're saying the Governor has proposed

         11  a bill that would extend the felony category to

         12  encompass not only driving while drunk at an

         13  aggregated level but also driving with a suspended

         14  license, period. Do I infer from that the Assembly,

         15  there are people in the Assembly then that are not

         16  comfortable with that and would prefer simply to

         17  pass --

         18                 MS. BROWN: A drunk driving bill.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: -- Only with

         20  the alcohol.

         21                 MS. BROWN: Exactly.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.  Thank

         23  you.

         24                 MS. RUBENSTEIN: If I may, the other

         25  issue which is in negotiation is what the actual
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          2  burden of proof will be for the actual crime that

          3  will occur when one DWIs and death or serious injury

          4  occurs.  That is still an issue, it's being

          5  negotiated by the Governor's Office and the

          6  Speaker's office.

          7                 What the burden of proof will

          8  actually be, will it be a burden that shifts to the

          9  defendant as an affirmative defense or will the

         10  burden of proof remain on the prosecutor to perhaps

         11  prove simple negligence as opposed to a criminal

         12  act.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Just to follow

         14  up on that, when you say burden of proof and the

         15  parents are doing everything possible, let me

         16  address this to the attorney's then because it's you

         17  who are probably involved in the negotiations

         18  upstate.  The way it stands now. The proposed

         19  VaSean's Law does not eliminate, and correct me if

         20  I'm wrong, the burden on the prosecutor to prove an

         21  additional negligence.  So is that what you are

         22  referring to?

         23                 MS. RUBENSTEIN: That is VaSean's Law

         24  as proposed in the Speaker's bill, although I do

         25  believe the Speaker's bill does increase to some
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          2  degree, the ability to get a conviction in the event

          3  there is negligence by the driver of the vehicle.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Exactly.

          5                 MS. RUBENSTEIN: But I just wanted to

          6  point out also, the Governor indicated that his bill

          7  as well, if it were passed, would be called VaSean's

          8  Law.  So when one refers to VaSean's Law, you are

          9  not only speaking of the proposal by the Speaker,

         10  you are also referring to the Governor's proposal.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I was not aware

         12  of the Governor's promise.  I am very happy about

         13  that.  Okay, I just wanted to make sure that when

         14  you are negotiating on behalf of the families and

         15  everyone here that we do want that requirement,

         16  extra negligence, to be eliminated in the final

         17  version of this.  I have already sent a letter to

         18  every member legislator telling them how I feel.

         19  And you know how I feel, and receive many positive

         20  responses.  Once this Committee votes on this two

         21  weeks from now, I expect passage and then expect

         22  passage out of the full Council and again I will be

         23  alerting every legislator in Albany that this

         24  Council fully supports your reference here today,

         25  fully supports stronger laws and stands ready to do
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          2  anything we can in the future to help you to get

          3  through this and help you in your quest for change

          4  in the names of your sons.

          5                 So we thank you and again thank you

          6  on behalf of everyone in the room.  It was very

          7  impressive. Our sympathies go with you everyday, our

          8  prayers go with you and hopefully our assistance

          9  will be with you also.  Thank you.

         10                 The last panel we will have today

         11  will be Margaret Lang from Mother's Against Drunk

         12  Driving, who have also been leaders in this issue

         13  and have been extremely important to us here at the

         14  Council in crafting this resolution.  And also Kit

         15  Hodge from Transportation Alternatives.  Thank you

         16  both. Whatever order you wish.

         17                 MS. LANG: I'd like to introduce

         18  myself.  My name is Peggy Lang --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let's just give

         20  a few seconds for the room to clear because I want

         21  to hear what you have to say. Thanks.

         22                 Okay, let me call this meeting back

         23  to order.  Let me please have a little quite back

         24  there by the press.  Thank you. You can begin again,

         25  thanks.
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          2                 MS. LANG: I'd like to introduce my

          3  self.  My name is Peggy Lang.  First of all I am a

          4  teacher of young deaf children and I need to get

          5  back to my job.  I'm a wife. And I am also a son-

          6  less mother.  It sounds like an oxymoron, two words

          7  that contradict themselves. I am a mother of a dead

          8  son.  It's been three years since my son was killed

          9  on Christmas Day 2001.

         10                 On behalf of Mother's Against Drunk

         11  Driving and its thousands of members and supporters

         12  across the State, I am here to urge your support for

         13  calling on the State Legislature to enact

         14  legislation that would remove the requirement of

         15  proof of criminal negligence when prosecuting drunk

         16  drivers who kill or seriously injure innocent

         17  victims and elevate the offense of criminally

         18  negligent homicide from the current Class E Felony

         19  with a maximum sentence of one and one- third to

         20  four years to a more appropriate felony level with a

         21  corresponding higher maximum sentence.

         22                 Driving while intoxicated is the most

         23  frequently committed violent crime in America.

         24  Everyone with a driver's license knows that alcohol

         25  and driving is a deadly combination. Drinking and
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          2  driving is not simply a lapse in judgment; it is a

          3  criminal act with deadly consequences and it is a

          4  crime committed not under duress, but knowingly and

          5  voluntarily.  Therefore, the act of driving while

          6  drunk should be, in and of itself, all that is

          7  needed to justify criminal negligence.

          8                 The consequences of voluntary drunk

          9  driving are frequently deadly, resulting in some of

         10  the most violent and horrific crime scenes one can

         11  imagine.  To maintain that a drunk driver, who is

         12  already committing a crime, must be in addition,

         13  exceed the speed limit, disobey a traffic signal or

         14  commit some other traffic violation in order to be

         15  charged with the appropriate offenses for causing

         16  death or serious injuries, makes no sense.  It also

         17  says to the families of those killed or maimed that

         18  the loss of their loved ones is less serious than

         19  the loss suffered by the victims of other violent

         20  crimes.

         21                 Can you imagine how terribly this

         22  affects the families?  How would you feel if a loved

         23  one of yours was killed by a drunk driver, who as a

         24  consequence, then faced only the same slap on the

         25  wrist as a shoplifter?  How can we, as a society,
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          2  continue to allow such injustice and inequity in the

          3  criminal justice system?

          4                 Deaths and serious injuries caused by

          5  drunk drivers are not unavoidable and accidental.

          6  They are not accidents, MADD calls them crashes

          7  because two decisions were made.  Drunk drivers have

          8  made two choices: To drink and to drive.  The

          9  ensuing tragedies are predictable, given the

         10  diminished judgment and motor skills of impaired

         11  drivers.  To insulate them from just punishment

         12  merely because they have not broken any other

         13  traffic laws is a shameful loophole that must be

         14  closed.

         15                 The death of my son David at 19 was

         16  completely avoidable.  The death of Monique and

         17  Sean's son VaSean, was a result of someone's

         18  decision to drink and drive.  Angel, Diana's son

         19  continues to suffer injuries caused by a drunk

         20  driver on a Queens street.  All of these young lives

         21  snuffed out, with very little consequence to the

         22  drivers.

         23                 It is the responsibility of the State

         24  Legislature to pass this legislation as soon as

         25  possible and ensure that these deadly drivers are
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          2  held accountable for their behavior and face

          3  consequences appropriate to the devastation they

          4  cause.  The time is long overdue to send a message

          5  to the drunk drivers on New York's roads that their

          6  criminal behavior will not be tolerated and that

          7  deaths and injuries caused by their criminal conduct

          8  will result in felony prosecutions and prison time.

          9  Anything less is unacceptable.

         10                 Thank you for your time and

         11  consideration and I look forward to the passage of

         12  this vital legislation.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you

         14  Margaret.  That was a very apropos analogy with

         15  shoplifting. Shoplifting, a misdemeanor maximum one

         16  year in jail.  Killing someone while driving a car

         17  maximum one year in jail.

         18                 Kit Hodge.

         19                 MS. HODGE: Good afternoon. Thank you

         20  Chairman Vallone for convening today's hearing.  My

         21  name is Kit Hodge.  I am the Campaign Coordinator

         22  for Transportation Alternatives, New York City's

         23  advocates for walking, bicycling and safe streets.

         24  We work with community groups throughout New York

         25  City on pedestrian safety issues.
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          2                 Today I would like to speak in favor

          3  of Resolution 338, which calls upon the State

          4  Legislature to adopt more stringent legislation for

          5  punishing dangerous and deadly drivers, particularly

          6  in relation to drivers who cause death or serious

          7  injury due to intoxication or criminal negligence.

          8                 While I realize that most of the

          9  hearing has been focused on drunk driving, I would

         10  like to bring to the attention of the Council to

         11  another issue that affects hundreds of families each

         12  year also, speeding. It also compliments many of the

         13  issues that we've spoken about today with drunk

         14  driving.

         15                 When it comes to urban traffic safety

         16  there is one overriding concern, speeding. Speeding

         17  motorists have less time to react to avoid

         18  collisions, tend not to yield the right- of- way and

         19  cause more deaths and injuries.  There is a direct

         20  relationship between a motorist's speed and the odds

         21  that the driver will kill pedestrians or bicyclists

         22  he or she strikes.

         23                 At twenty miles per hour a pedestrian

         24  will be killed five percent of the time.  Thirty

         25  miles per hour that number jumps to forty- five
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          2  percent.  At forty miles per hour, which many of us

          3  consider a slow speed, that number is eighty- five

          4  percent, your certainty of death.

          5                 The Federal Highway Administration

          6  research suggests that two- thirds of traffic deaths

          7  in New York City involve speeding.  To put this in

          8  context, fewer than nine percent of traffic deaths

          9  are caused by drunk driving.  Two- thirds, nine

         10  percent.  It should be noted that anti- speeding

         11  efforts are very much where anti- drunk driving

         12  efforts were a few decades ago. Thanks in part to

         13  the wonderful efforts of groups like MADD. Speeding

         14  is often viewed as a victimless crime, almost a

         15  driver's right, rather than the extremely dangerous

         16  and anti- social behavior it is, especially on City

         17  streets.

         18                 Despite the stereotype of the

         19  gridlocked City, speeding is rampant here.  In 2002

         20  Transportation Alternatives conducted speed counts

         21  with a police caliber radar gun.  Using standard

         22  speed sampling methods, Transportation Alternatives

         23  found the average speed on Upper Broadway in

         24  Manhattan during daylight hours to be 37 miles per

         25  hour.  Similarly, we regularly recorded speeds over
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          2  50 miles per hour and an average speed of 39 miles

          3  per hour on Fourth Avenue in Brooklyn.

          4                 These results are supported by

          5  numerous City Department of Transportation speed

          6  studies, including a 1999 study on Queens Boulevard

          7  that found 25 percent of motorists exceeded 40 miles

          8  per hour, which is ten miles per hour over the

          9  Citywide 30 miles per hour speed limit.

         10                 One reason for this rampant speeding

         11  is that the police department finds it very

         12  difficult to enforce speed limits in this

         13  overcrowded City.  As a result only two percent of

         14  moving violations that the New York City Police

         15  issue are for speeding. One way to solve this

         16  enforcement problem is by redesigning streets so

         17  that the street itself helps enforce the speed

         18  limit.

         19                 The City can reduce speeds by

         20  redesigning streets using traffic calming measures

         21  like speed bumps, median strips, raised

         22  intersections and re- timing traffic lights.  The

         23  Department of Transportation is doing some of these

         24  things, but it will take much more to redesign New

         25  York City streets.
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          2                 The DOT's efforts will be greatly

          3  strengthened by legislation that sends a strong

          4  message to the public that speeding and other

          5  reckless driving is not a victimless crime.  Drivers

          6  must know that there are consequences to their

          7  dangerous behavior.

          8                 In 2004 the New York Daily News found

          9  that between 2000 and 2002, motorists killed 580 New

         10  York City pedestrians, but only 80 motorists were

         11  charged with a crime.  Of those 80 motorists

         12  charged, only a handful served jail time.  In

         13  response to the News' report, Governor Pataki

         14  suggested a package of legislation intended to hold

         15  drivers who kill and injure, responsible for their

         16  actions. We strongly endorse the intent of his

         17  legislation, especially the need to eliminate the so

         18  called "rule of two," which the DA's earlier

         19  referred to, increase penalties for drivers who kill

         20  or injure while driving with a suspended license and

         21  keep drivers with multiple suspensions off the

         22  streets.

         23                 We urge this Committee to call upon

         24  the State Legislature to work with the State

         25  District Attorney's Association and expert
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          2  prosecutors like Maureen McCormick and the

          3  Governor's Office of Criminal Justice to carefully

          4  craft legislation to end the flagrant injustice that

          5  allows dangerous motorists to kill and drive away,

          6  free to kill again.

          7                 Please pass Resolution 338 and

          8  actively campaign for State legislation that will

          9  end the "rule of two" and keep dangerous drivers off

         10  the streets.  Thank you for the opportunity to

         11  testify.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you both

         13  for your testimony.  And Margaret for all of the

         14  support you give to everyone affected by drunk

         15  driving.

         16                 Kit, I'm not sure if you are aware,

         17  you may be, that we here in the Council passed

         18  Landmark Anti- Drag Racing legislation just

         19  recently.  First of its kind in the country and

         20  thank you for your support with that.

         21                 We don't have any further questions

         22  at this point, but I am sure that we will be in

         23  contact with both of you as we further craft these

         24  resolutions and some that have come up as a result

         25  of the testimony today.  So thank you both for your
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          2  time.

          3                 Seeing that there are no further

          4  witnesses, I thank you all for your participation

          5  and adjourn this meeting of the Public Safety

          6  Committee.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 12:25 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, LENORE NAGLE, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 10th day of January 2005.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          LENORE NAGLE
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          3
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          8

          9            I, LENORE NAGLE, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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